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The board (the “"Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of Hao
Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited (the
“"Company”) is pleased to present the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2022 (the “Year").

During the Year, economies have been through challenges both
globally and in Hong Kong. As the COVID-19 pandemic was still
threatening the whole world in the Year, the macro environment
was not optimistic. Given the hit record highs of the COVID-19
pandemic in Hong Kong in 1st quarter of 2022, various sectors
were heavily affected and thus led to economic recession and
the highest unemployment rate in the last two decades. In view
of the complicated external environment, the Group has
adopted a sound financial policy, and actively explored new

development opportunities.

In terms of the existing construction machinery business, due to
the relatively stable undertaking of government infrastructure
projects, the Group managed to record an increase in the (i)
sales of construction machinery and spare parts, and (ii) rental
income generated from construction machinery during the Year.
The occupancy rate for the rental machineries was

approximately 85%.

For the financial services business, we shall continue our
business expansion with a cautious and positive attitude. The
Group is confident in the prospects of the financial markets in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China, and would like to increase
its presence in the financial markets by either organic growth or

working with reputable partners.

DIRECTOR’'S STATEMENT
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DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT
EERES

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all the Shareholders for their full support,
and appreciate the Directors, the management and the staff for
their valuable contributions to the Group. The Group shall strive
to streamline its existing businesses and to explore new
business opportunities in order to create returns for its

shareholders.

Mr. Fok Chi Tak

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Impact of COVID-19

During the Year under review, the COVID-19 pandemic
remained challenging due to the outbreak of the mutant
variants and outbreak of 5th wave of COVID-19 in Hong Kong.
The Group remained resilient and focused on its existing

businesses.

Though operations of the construction industry in Hong Kong
have been affected as a consequence of COVID-19, due to the
relatively stable undertaking of government infrastructure
projects, the Group managed to record an increase in the (i)
sales of construction machinery and spare parts, and (ii) rental
income generated from construction machinery during the Year.
The occupancy rate for the rental machineries kept at

approximately 85%.

To manage the impact of COVID-19, the Group maintained its
operation and put in place precautionary and risk mitigation
measures, including suitably deploying remote work
arrangements, periodic deep cleaning and sanitization for both
our warehouse and offices, provision of facemasks or other
personal protection equipment for all employees, daily
COVID-19 Antigen Test and body temperature measurement
for all personnel at workplaces, and proper record keeping of

work schedule and contact history for tracing.

During the Year, the Group continued to pursue a long-term
business strategy of diversifying into financial services business,
property development business, and construction machinery
business. The Group's principal activities include: (i) money
lending; (ii) securities investment; (iii) provision of commodiities,
futures, securities brokerage and financial services; (iv) asset
management; (v) rental and trading of construction machinery;

and (vi) property development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Construction machinery business

The Group offers crawler cranes of different sizes, other mobile
cranes, aerial platforms and foundation equipment in its
construction machinery rental fleet. The Group procures these
construction machinery mainly through the manufacturers of
construction machinery located in Western Europe, Japan and
China as well as traders of used construction machinery around
the world.

The Group has maintained approximately 185 units of
construction machinery in the rental fleet during the Year. In
order to maintain a modern fleet of construction machinery with
a greater variety of models, the Group has been replacing
portions of its fleet of construction machinery from time to time.
The Board will continue to monitor the daily operations and
review the expansion plan of the rental fleet and the capital
requirements of the Group regularly. The Group may
reschedule such expansion plan according to the operation and
needs, the preference of the target customers and prevailing
market conditions if necessary. To satisfy customers’ needs, the
Group also sells spare parts for maintenance purposes or upon

request.
Financial services business

The Group holds licenses for conducting Type 1 (dealing in
securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4 (advising
on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the

“SFO"). The Group provides a wide range of financial services.

The revenue for the Year of the financial services business
(including provision of asset management, securities brokerage,
commodities, futures and other financial services) was
approximately HK$16 million (2021: approximately HK$11
million), represented approximately 7% (2021: approximately
5%) of the total revenue of the Group and a segment profit of
approximately HK$10 million (2021: approximately HK$51
million loss). The increase in revenue was mainly due to increase

in the value and volume of transactions in securities brokerage.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Financial services business (continued)

In the course of preparing the financial statements for the Year,
the Company had engaged an independent qualified valuer to
determine the recoverable amount of the trading right of the
business carrying on the regulated activities of Type 1 (dealing
in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) as
defined under the SFO. The recoverable amount of the trading
right has been determined by fair value less cost of disposal,
which is primarily making reference to sales of similar
transactions in the market. During the Year, no impairment loss

(2021: nil) on the trading right was recognised.
Money lending business

The Group holds money lender licenses under the Money
Lenders Ordinance in Hong Kong and the money lending
business was conducted through its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries, to grant loans to individuals and enterprises. The
Group strived to adhere to a set of comprehensive policy and
procedural manual in respect of loan approval, loan renewal,
loan recovery, loan compliance, monitoring and anti-money

laundering.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had loans receivable with
carrying amount of approximately HK$59 million (2021: HK$278
million). HK$245 million of the loan receivables and interest
income receivables was received from borrowers during the
Year. The Group recorded interest income from loans receivable
of approximately HK$17 million for the Year (2021: HK$60

million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWRE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Money lending business (continued)

During the Year, the Group did not grant any new loans to
individuals and enterprises. As at 31 March 2022, 5 loans with
amount of approximately HK$53 million were overdue, all of
which were supported by personal guarantee and/or collateral,
interest rate ranging from 10% to 18% per annum. A total of 5
cases with amount of approximately HK$53 million were under
legal proceedings (including assets under public auctions). The
subsequent settlement from year end date to the date of this

report amounted to approximately HK$25 million.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of outstanding loans
receivable from the five largest borrowers of the Group totalled
HK$55 million (representing 93% to the total loans receivable of
the Group, subsequent settlement amounted to approximately
of HK$25 million) while the carrying amount of outstanding
loans receivable from the largest borrower amounted to HK$33
million (representing 56% to the total loans receivable of the

Group).

As at 31 March 2022, the management had engaged an
independent qualified valuer to determine the expected credit
losses of the Group's loans receivable (the “loans receivable
ECL"). In assessing the loans receivable ECL of the Group, a
credit rating analysis of the underlying debtors was adopted by
reviewing the historical accounting information to estimate the
default risk. The Group applied different expected loss rates to
different classes of receivables according to their respective risk
characteristics. In determining the default risk, factors including
but not limited to, the ageing analysis of the receivables, the
Group's internal assessment of the debtors’ credit worthiness,
historical and forecast occurrence of event of default, existence
and valuation of the collaterals, the relevant regulatory
framework and government policies in Hong Kong and global
economic outlook in general and the specific economic
condition of Hong Kong would be considered. The rate of loans
receivable ECL ranged from 18% to 55% depending on the

nature, probability of default and loss of the loans receivable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Money lending business (continued)

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money
lending business which includes compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower
and his/its assets, the credibility of the potential borrower, the
necessity in obtaining collaterals and determination of suitable

interest rate to reflect the risk level of the provision of loan.

The Group has performed background and credit risk
assessment on the potential borrowers before granting the
loans by (a) searching on their identity and background; (b)
reviewing and assessing their financial information; and (c)

performing an assessment on their creditability.

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and the
value of security/collateral for granting of each loan, whether to
an individual or enterprise, on a case by case basis considering
factors, including but not limited to, the repayment history,
results of public search towards the borrower, the value and
location of the assets owned by the borrower and the financial

condition of the borrower.

Our Group is required to and has, at all times, strictly complied
with all relevant laws and regulations. In the opinion of our
Directors, in addition to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Money Lenders
Ordinance constituted a major governance on our Group's

money lending business in Hong Kong.

During the Year, we did not receive any objection from and was
not investigated by the Registrar of Money Lenders (presently
performed by the Registrar of Companies) nor the
Commissioner of Police regarding the renewal of the money

lenders license.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property development business

The Group has property development projects in Cambodia
and Malaysia. In Cambodia, the Council of Ministers approved
the project company to establish a special economic zone with
a size of 17,252,519 square meters at Koh Kong Province,
Cambodia. The project company shall have the sole and
exclusive right to develop the special economic zone with all
the necessary land use rights, including those for residential,
industrial and commercial development purposes. The project
was still in its preliminary stage during the Year because of the
impact of COVID-19 in Cambodia.

The Group has another property development project in
Malaysia. The project is a residential and commercial mixed
property development project located at Port Dickson, Negeri
Sembilan, Malaysia comprising 267,500 square meters. The
property is held from the government for a lease term of 99
years expiring on 8 February 2097 for residential and
commercial building uses. The project was still in its preliminary
stage during the Year because of the impact of COVID-19 in
Malaysia.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$412 million for
the Year (2021: Profit at approximately HK$100 million).

Revenue

During the Year, the total revenue of approximately HK$220

million maintained at similar level as compared with last year.

Sales of construction machinery and spare parts, rental
income from construction machinery and repair and
maintenance and transportation service income

During the Year, the sales of construction machinery and spare
parts, rental income generated from construction machinery
and repair and maintenance and transportation service income
were approximately HK$49 million (2021: approximately HK$41
million), approximately HK$128 million (2021: approximately
HK$100 million) and approximately HK$10 million (2021:
approximately HK$8 million), respectively. The increase in
revenue for sales of construction and spare parts was mainly
attributable to the increased demand in bored piling
accessories. The increase in rental income was mainly
attributable to the increase in government projects which led to

improved utilization rate of our rental fleets.

Money lending, asset management, securities
brokerage, commodities, futures and other financial
services

During the Year, the total revenue from money lending, asset
management, securities brokerage, commodities, futures and
other financial services decreased by approximately HK$38
million, or approximately 54%. Such decrease was mainly

attributable to the decrease in loans receivables.

BEREN WD

Bt %5 O R

RAEE  AEBEGEBEBRO42AEET(ZF
——F EMHI00BEEETT)

A

MAFEE - BRARL 2205 BBTEHEFIEE -

BERMEBERAZHHEEUREASVA - #
EREEUREHRBE VA

RAFE  BEERRBERTH2HER  EE
WIREE 2 S WA REE RRE A SBH R
WA BOBEEL( T —F:H41H
BAL) £128BBBL(ZF=—F: 41007
BET)RMI0BBEL(ZT-—F: Y8EE
BIL) c BEBMEBRTHZHERLATER
RAEABREFRIEMm  ZEEMBS LA E
ZRA/BFTREN  SHREEREER X L
o

RE BEEE - BHEL -BEm-
H & AR %5

HER

RAFE WE BAEER FHRLL BEm-
HEREMGSBRGEBIEARDLBEEETH
#154% - BRAB L B BN EKREFR DA

Annual Report & 2021/22 1 3



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® 2 KB ZEZIEEEE AR AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) B ERE (&)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value AP EFEEERFAERE (UAFE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), net STEEEHBATABR ) 2EREEZ AT
EHEEFHE
The details of the Group's securities investments and the net RAFE  AEBZELHRENERRNAFE
fair value losses recognised for the Year are set out as follows: B8R BEEEHNOT
Percentage of
Number of Percentage of ~ Number of Percentage of total assets of
shares held shareholdings ~ shares held  shareholdings Fair value Fair value Fairvalue  the Group
at31March  at31March at31March at31March at31March  at31March (losses)/gains  at 31 March
2021 2021 2022 2022 2021 2022 for the Year 2022
g et 3
RZB=-F RZBZ-F RIT-ZF RIBIZE RSB WNZBCZE REAEE2 ZAZT-H
=B=t-H =A=t-B =B=t+-B =B=t-H =A=+-H Z=A=1-H ATE HAREEE

FERAEE ZBREANH FMERAGHE ZBREL ZAVE ZOTE (BR)/WE BEZEM
(note 1) HK§'milion ~ HK§'million  HK$'million
(PzE) BEATL BEATL BEATL

Name/(Stock Code) 28/ (ROR%E)

China Shandong Hi- PELRRRERER

Speed Financial Group BRAR@12)

Limited (412) 6,000 0.00% 6,000 0.00% - - - -
International Alliance ERRERARR

Financing Leasing BIRAT (1563)

Company Limited (1563) - - 26,642,000 1.78% - 88 14 3.00%
HT Riverwood HT Riverwood

Multi-Growth Fund Multi-Growth Fund

(note 2) (M32) N/ATNEF N/ATEF N/ATER N/ATER 293 44 (148) 1.50%
Tisé Equity SP-1 (note 3 Tisé Equity SP-1 (f15£3)  NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER - 59 (262) 201%
Unlisted debt instrument ~ JEFHERTA NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER 15 20 0] 0.68%
Convertible note receivable JEMRATERZ 1 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER - 28 - 0.96%

308 239 (397) 8.15%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), net (continued)

Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholdings is calculated with reference to the
monthly return of equity issuer on movements in securities for the month
ended 31 March 2022 of the issuers publicly available on the website of
the Stock Exchange.

2. HT Riverwood Multi-Growth Fund (formerly known as Riverwood Multi-
Growth Fund) (“Riverwood”) mainly invests in listed equities of companies
located in the Greater China Region (which includes Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) or deriving income and/or assets from
the Greater China Region. Riverwood may invest in Exchange-Traded
Funds (ETFs), U.S. Treasury securities and derivative products.

3. Tisé Equity SP-1 is a segregated portfolio of Tisé Opportunities SPC, an
exempted company incorporated with limited liability and registered as a
segregated portfolio company under the laws of the Cayman Islands in
March 2021, with an investment objective to provide its investors with
long-term capital appreciation.

During the Year, in relation to fair value loss in FVTPL of
approximately HK$397 million, a total of HK$148 million and
HK$262 million was related to investment in Riverwood and Tisé

Opportunities SPC respectively.

For Riverwood, investment with fair value of approximately
HK$195 million at 31 March 2021 (original cost of approximately
HK$122 million) was redeemed in the Year at approximately
HK$101 million. A fair value loss of approximately HK$94 million
was recorded from this redemption, where approximately
HK$22 million represents an actual loss and approximately
HK$72 million represents a reversal of fair value gain recognised
in previous years. At 31 March 2022, there was a further

adjustment to fair value loss of approximately HK$54 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWRE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), net (continued)

In April 2021, the Group entered into a share purchase
agreement with an independent third party to acquire 49% equity
interests in Kingdom Future Limited (“Kingdom Future”).
Kingdom Future, through its interests in a segregated portfolio of
Tisé Opportunities SPC, held shares of New Gains Group Limited
("NGG"), a subsidiary of China Evergrande Group (“CEG"), which
owns Fangchebao Group Co. Ltd* (FEE & B R D BR A F).
The consideration of the acquisition was settled by the allotment
and issue of approximately 867 million shares of the Company.
The transaction was completed on 20 May 2021 and the closing
market trading price is at HK$0.37 per share which made the fair
value of this investment at approximately HK$321 million. This
investment was treated as a financial asset at fair value through

profit or loss on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Pursuant to CEG’s announcement dated 29 March 2021, a
number of investors (including Tisé Opportunities SPC, acting
for and on behalf of Tisé Equity SP-1) have entered into an
investment agreement with CEG where if NGG has not
completed a qualified IPO on or before 12 months after the
completion date, investors (including Tisé Opportunities SPC) is
entitled to require CEG and other relevant obligors (jointly and
severally) to repurchase the original investment paid by Tisé

Opportunities SPC together with a 15% premium.

On 30 June 2021, CEG further announced that the terms of the
original investment agreement have been amended so that
when the relevant investor exercises its right and request the
repurchase of its interests in NGG, CEG or its designated entity
has the right to elect (i) to repurchase all the interests held by
the relevant investor in NGG at the repurchase price (equivalent
to 1.15 times of the total consideration paid by the relevant
investor); or (ii) not to exercise such repurchase right, and in
such case, Mr. Hui Ka Yan, the controlling shareholder of CEG
shall agree to fulfill such repurchase obligation and pay the

relevant investor the repurchase price.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), net (continued)

On 12 April 2022 and 25 April 2022, Tisé Opportunities SPC has
sent a repurchase request and reminder to CEG and Mr. Hui Ka

Yan for the original investment cost plus the 15% premium.

Following the outbreak of CEG financial crisis in the 2nd half of
2021, with due care and diligence, the Company has been
closely monitoring the ongoing situation of the crisis and
assessing the financial impact to our Group. The Company had
engaged an independent qualified valuer to determine the
recoverable amount of this investment. The recoverable amount
has been determined by fair value less expected credit loss,
which is primarily making reference to the information available
in the market. During the Year, a fair value loss of HK$262
million was recognised. The Company has and will continue to

use it best endeavors to minimise losses to the Group.
Other losses, net

During the Year, other losses, net were approximately HK$385
million (2021: other losses, net of approximately HK$20 million).
Such change was mainly attributable to loss in fair value change
of FVTPL of approximately HK$397 million. In the year ended 31
March 2021 (the "“Previous Year”), there was an extinguishment
loss of approximately HK$13 million on early principal
redemption of certain convertible note payables and loss in fair
value change of financial liabilities at FVTPL of approximately
HK$12 million.

During the Year, in relation to fair value loss in FVTPL of
approximately HK$397 million, a total of HK$148 million and
HK$262 million was related to investments in equity funds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Administrative expenses

During the Year, the administrative expenses were
approximately HK$58 million (2021: approximately HK$59
million), representing a decrease of approximately 2% as
compared with the Previous Year. Among the administrative
expenses incurred during the Year, approximately HK$11 million
(2021: approximately HK$10 million) was related to depreciation
and non-cash in nature, and staff costs of approximately HK$22

million (2021: approximately HK$23 million).
Impairment losses

An impairment losses of approximately HK$13 million (2021:
HK$7 million) on allowance on expected credit losses on
financial assets were recognised during the Year. It was mainly

attributable to the default in loan receivables.

In the Previous Year, the impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets were mainly arising from
the loss in respective cash-generating units; while the allowance
for expected credit losses on financial assets was mainly

attributable to the default in loan receivables.
Share of results of associates

During the Year, the share of results of associates of
approximately HK$17 million, loss (2021: approximately HK$169
million, gain). In the Previous Year, the amount mainly
represented the share of results arising from the excess of net
fair value of identifiable assets over costs of investments for
newly acquired associates of approximately HK$215 million and

the post-acquisition loss of approximately HK$46 million.
Share-based payment expenses

Share-based payment expenses of approximately HK$7 million
(2021: approximately HK$10 million) was related to the share

awards and emolument shares granted to certain Directors and

employees.

18 Annual Report G 3 2021/22

B E R ()
TERAX

RAFE  THRAXHASBEES L(ZE=—
FOEERT) BBRTFERLDL2% - 7E
AEEEAZTHRAZER HNMasgsc(=
T —F:HN0EBA L) BNERIEREME
BEREIRANNEEST(ZE-—F 1 4
23\8BABT) B -

ZREY

AEEEREREERPEEBHBRREBERRE
BREAOBAEET( T _—F :7TAEET)
BRREBRETIZHNERERERAE -

RBEFE  WE BERRBUAREBTEEZ
MEBETIEXREXReELEMZER M2
MEECRHEERBREIEMNERBRE
RFTEL

DIHBE DT EER

alj

RAFE  DEBERREREN7TASELER

“EC-F19asETTEM) RBESF
B DEEXETERSRAABANEE AT FER
HHBABZEARRERNAMELEN215BEE
TTE AR KERERD6BEBT

AR XY B X

B NAXORTBERBT(ZE_—F: §
10E&EET)  BRTETESZREE 2N LR
K& ROFEXER -



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® £ XFf iR E £ @ AR AR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Finance costs

During the Year, the finance costs were approximately HK$29

million (2021: approximately HK$44 million), representing a

decrease of approximately HK$15 million as compared with the

Previous Year. The decrease was mainly attributable to interest

expenses of approximately HK$23 million for convertible note

payables incurred in last year, and which were convert in

February 2021.

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

The details of the listed securities investments and the fair value

BEREN WD

M5 E R (48
MERA
RAFE BERTHARNEBET(ZT=—

FRMBEEET)  BREFRIDISESET -
WMORASEFIRREEMNEHA/HN23EE
BT ERZE = —F - ABKk -

UAFESFEEHSTARMEENES
(AR PEFEEESTTAEMBEEY
m)zEMEEZ QA VEER

RAFE - EHEFRENRCHER L FEKE

gains recognised during the Year are set out below: FEFIT
Percentage of
Percentage of  Percentage of total assets of
shareholdings ~ shareholdings Fair value Fair value Fair value the Group
at31 March  at31March  at31March  at31March loss  at 31 March
2021 2022 2021 2022 for the Year 2022
R-B-ZE
R-2--F  R-BCCF RIBC-F RCBRCCR ZA=1-A8
ZA=Zt-B ZA=t-B ZA=t-B ZA=t-H REEE (AREEE
ZEREM  2EREM ZATE ZATE ZAVEFRE BEZELMN
Note HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
liEd BEBT BEAT REBT
Name 2R
Oshidori International FEEERERAT
Holdings Limited (622) 622) a 3.07% 1.271% 120 39 (15) 1.33%
Aceso Life Science Group S MEIEEE
Limited (474) BRAR @4 b - 0.74% - 3 (1 0.10%
120 42 (16) 1.43%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
(continued)

Notes:

a. Oshidori International Holdings Limited (“Oshidori”) principally engages
in investment holdings, trading and investment in securities, and the
provisions of (i) securities brokerage services; (i) placing and underwriting
services; (iii) corporate finance advisory services; (iv) money lending
services; (v) investment advisory and asset management services; and (vi)
margin financing services.

Pursuant to Oshidori's annual report for the year ended 31 December
2021, Oshidori recorded a revenue of approximately HK$(3,101) million
and a total comprehensive loss of approximately HK$4,206 million.

The Group held 77,500,000 shares of Oshidori as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
187,500,000).

b. Aceso Life Science Group Limited (“ALS") principally engages in (i) money
lending; (ii) securities investment; (iii) provision of commodities, futures,
securities brokerage and other financial services; (iv) asset management;
(v) rental and trading of construction machinery; (vi) provision of repair and
maintenance and transportation service; (vii) property development; and
(viii) property leasing.

Pursuant to ALS annual results for the year ended 31 March 2022, ALS
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$315 million and a total
comprehensive loss of approximately HK$570 million.

The Group held 54,570,000 shares of ALS as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$1,414 million (31 March 2021:
approximately HK$1,242 million) and HK$597 million (31 March
2021: approximately HK$425 million) respectively.

The Group has established a treasury policy with the objective
of lowering cost of funds. Therefore, funding for all its
operations have been centrally reviewed and monitored at the
Group level. To manage the Group's exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates on project, appropriate funding policies will be
applied including the use of bank and other borrowings and
placing of new shares. The management will continue its efforts
in obtaining the most privileged rates and favourable terms to
the Group for its financing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Gearing ratio and indebtedness
The Group monitors its capital structure based on the gearing

ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debts divided by total

capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
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consolidated statement of financial position plus net debts. The #H W -_ZT - —"F=-A=-+—HEK T -—F=
capital structure (including its gearing ratio) as at 31 March 2022 A=+ —HMEALE (BREEEEGELL X)W
and 31 March 2021 was as follows: K
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
-2 T4
=A=+-R =A=+-8
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEAT Er-2: W
(audited) (audited)
(REX) (fe2Ez)
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 441 329
Corporate note payables EMPERE
— at amortised cost — BB ERR - 108
— at FVTPL — URTFEAEEES A AER 629 628
Total borrowings -t 1,070 1,065
Less: cash and cash equivalents B RERREEED (91) (107)
pledged bank deposits EHEFRITER = (5)
Net debts (ETEE 979 953
Total equity - Fa 1,633 1,724
Total capital BARMREE 2,612 2,677
Gearing ratio BEAMBLX 37% 36%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Gearing ratio and indebtedness (continued)

The borrowings with aggregate amounts of approximately
HK$297 million were carried at fixed interest rates,
approximately HK$54 million were carried at floating interest
rates and the remaining borrowings of the Group at HK$90

million is interest free.
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As at 31 March 2022, cash and cash equivalents were WZ-Z-_—F=A=+—H BWEIELZEY
denominated in the following currencies: BTG %EE -

HK$'million

BHEAT

HK$ BTT 16
Us$ ETT 70
JPY HJT 4
EUR BT 1
91

As at 31 March 2022, the maturity and currency profile for the
Group's bank and other borrowings and corporate note

payables at amortised cost are set out as follows:

RZE-_—F=A=+—H AEHERTEHM
EE A RIS APER 2 B b ¥R IE 2 B 5
AREEASHINOT

Within 1 year 2 years 3-5 years Total

—FR FHF =ZHF et

HK$'million  HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million

BHEAT BE#ET BEART BHEAT

HK$ BT 410 17 14 441
Charges on Group's assets AEBEEHRT

As at 31 March 2022, approximately 60% (2021: approximately W®R—-—Z - —F=F=+—H KNEBHO0% (-

30%) of the Group’s borrowings and other borrowings are
secured by (1) corporate note receivable; and (2) machinery and

motor vehicles.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group's pledged bank deposits and finance lease
receivables bear fixed interest rates. The Group's cash at bank
balances bear floating interest rates. The Group also has
borrowings and obligation under finance leases and a loan from
a director which is partly bearing interests at fixed interest rates
and partly interest free. Exposure to interest rate risk exists on
those balances subject to floating interest rate when there are
unexpected adverse interest rate movements. The Group's
policy is to manage its interest rate risk, working within an
agreed framework, to ensure that there are no undue exposures
to significant interest rate movements and rates are

appropriately fixed when necessary.
Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in HK$, US$, JPY and
EUR. The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk primarily
arises from certain financial instruments including trade
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade payables,
borrowings and obligation under finance leases which are
denominated in US$ and EUR. The Group does not adopt any
hedging strategy in the long run but the management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange risk exposure and
might enter into foreign exchange forward contracts on a case-
by-case basis. The Group has not used any hedging contracts

to engage in speculative activities.
Credit risk and liquidity risk

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the Year. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its
customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors
the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Risk management

The Group has established and maintained sufficient risk
management procedures to identify and control various types
of risk within the organisation and the external environment with
active management participation and effective internal control
procedures in the best interest of the Group and its
shareholders.

Major post-balance sheet date events

Major post-balance sheet events are as follows:

1. On 11 May 2022, Victory Bright Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company agreed to sell 15% of the entire issued share
capital of Alcott Global Limited at a consideration of
US$20 million (equivalent to approximately HK$157
million), which was settled in cash upon completion and
the completion took place on 16 May 2022.

The major asset of Alcott Global Limited is 22% of the
issued share capital of the project company which is
principally engaged in investment in urban complex
development project. Approval was granted by the
Council of Ministers to the project company to establish a
special economic zone at Koh Kong Province, Cambodia.

2. On 22 June 2022, True Well Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, executed an order with
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited for a bond purchase
at the consideration of approximately US$45 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$355 million).

3. On 23 June 2022, Victor Ocean Developments Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
executed an agreement for the disposal of 49% equity
interest in Triple Blessing International Limited, an
associate of the Group at a consideration of HK$44 million.

Subsequent to the end of the Year and up to the date of this

report, there was no other significant or important event that
affects the business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 127 staff (31 March 2021:
120). The Group generally recruits its employees from the open
market or by referral and enters into employment contracts with
its employees. The Group offers attractive remuneration
packages to the employees. In addition to salaries, the
employees would be entitled to bonuses subject to the
Company’s and employees’ performance. The Group provides
a defined contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund as
required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for the
eligible employees. The Group also adopted a share award

scheme.

The operation staff consists of experienced machinery operators
and mechanics. While such employees are highly demanded in
the market, the Group manages to maintain a relatively stable
workforce by continuous recruitment from the market or
through referrals. New employees are required to attend
induction courses to ensure that they are equipped with the
necessary skills and knowledge to perform their duties. In order
to promote overall efficiency, the Group also offers technical
trainings to existing employees on the operation of more
advanced construction machinery from time to time. Selected
operation staff are required to attend external trainings which
are conducted by the manufacturers of the construction
machines to acquire up-to-date technical skills and knowledge

on the products of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmEDN

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend to the shareholders of the Company for the Year (2021:
Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS IN THE YEAR AND
ISSUANCE OF CONSIDERATION SHARES

In April 2021, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement
with an independent third party to acquire 49% equity interests
in Kingdom Future. Kingdom Future, through its interests in a
segregated portfolio of Tisé Opportunities SPC, acquired
shares of New Gains Group Limited, a subsidiary of China
Evergrande Group, which owns Fangchebao Group Co. Ltd.*
(FBEEEERRHM AR A A The consideration was settled by
the allotment and issuance of approximately 867 million shares
of the Company. The transaction was completed on 20 May
2021 and the closing market trading price is at HK$0.37 per
share which made the fair value of this investment at
approximately HK$321 million. This investment was treated as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss on the
consolidated statement of financial position. During the Year, a

fair value loss of HK$262 million was recognised.

The Group had not made any material disposal of subsidiaries

and associated companies during the Year.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The past year was full of opportunities and challenges. The
COVID-19 pandemic is affecting the pace of global economic
recovery and adds uncertainties to the financial market.
However, the Group implements prudent business strategies to
establish a diversified business portfolio that can survive the
uncertain market conditions while exploring high-quality asset
investment opportunities to explore the growth potential of
profit and capital value for shareholders and investors of the

Company.

Looking ahead, the Group will remain cautious and sensibly
uphold its risk management policies, strength its capital
management and implement stringent cost control measures to

uphold its profitability during downturn of economy.
Money lending and financial services business

The Group will continue to expand the clients base and
establish a strong track record in order to strengthen the
businesses of corporate financial advisory services, asset
management services and streamline the clients base of money
lending services in the coming future. For the securities
brokerage services business, the Group will explore the
involvement in the share placement activities to enhance its

revenue stream.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS PROSPECTS (continued)
Property development business

Located in the Indo-China Peninsula, Cambodia is an important
stop on the ancient Maritime Silk Road and an important
location for China to promote the “One Belt, One Road”
construction in the 21st century. Now Cambodia is also
preparing an economic transformation, with many business
opportunities emerging. Meanwhile, Cambodia has a decent
investment environment and the market is highly liberalised and
internationalised, attracting the attention and injection of global
capital. While taking part in the development potential of the
land development project, the Group is also exploring more
business opportunities to invest in more business sectors in
Cambodia and to share the development dividend of this high

growing emerging market in the future.

At the same time, Malaysia is one of the most popular countries
in Asia. In recent years, Malaysia’s GDP has continued to rise,
which proves that Malaysia has strong investment potential. The
Group is also deploying and looking for local high-quality
projects, following the layout along the “One Belt, One Road”

regions.
Looking forward, the Group remains confident in its existing

businesses and will continue to monitor the performance in

order to maximise the returns to its shareholders.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior

management of the Group are as follows:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fok Chi Tak, aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director on 28 February 2017 and co-chief executive officer on 1
May 2020 (re-designated as chief executive officer on 30 June
2020). Mr. Fok is a member of nomination committee of the
Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Fok holds a master degree in Business
Administration from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Fok
involves in the formulation of strategic plans for the business
development of the Group, fund raising activities and potential
merger and acquisition activities of the Group. Mr. Fok is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Fok is also a fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). Mr. Fok currently
serves as an executive director and the chief financial officer of
Aceso Life Science Group Limited (Stock code: 474), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, whose shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tang Yiu Chi James, aged 54, was appointed as executive
Director on 24 September 2014. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tang obtained a Bachelor of
Science degree in aerospace engineering from Syracuse
University and has been serving the Group since his graduation.
Mr. Tang is responsible for the overall strategic management
and development of the Group’s business operations,
marketing and business development and finance and
administration. Mr. Tang was appointed as the director of Chim
Kee Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in June 1989 and took over the leadership of the
Group in May 1994. Mr. Tang has over 25 years of experience in

rental and trading of construction machines.

EEREREEEEEFE

IS S

JiE

EELEREEBNEEABOT

BEBEE 465 R_E—tF_A=+/\H
BZERWNTESR MA-ZE_ZTFHA—BE
ZERBETRAZE (R _T_FTFA=1H
HAERTHAER) BERERARFREZES
ZKE - BHR/RARRAZHMNBATIZESE - &
EEREEEARB IRERBLIEM - EXE
SERAEEZ XBERFERE;E  KEE
BUARBENAHMKELRS - EXERELES
AEMAERFHALAREAMAEERGE - ER
ENRBRHREDAELE (IR FTWE RIT
HBABAE) REBATAELAE (MEARS
FHHAMELAG)ERAG LT BEEERA/ARARAZ
ZRBEREHEDHEEEEARAR (ARMHRN
BERXPTEAR LT BRODASE - 474) ZRITE SR
BEMBEE -

HEE AL 54 R —MWFNLA - +MH
BEZERNTES - BFHEETARRETHER
AlzER - HALHESHASZESHATIZES
TE BEXR - EIRNAEE-HELTLER
AEBRBMEERARERBLERR  £H
EBERR MBRITER -BEER-ANANLER
RAEZER/ARRZ2EWNBARALEBRAAE
EYR-NAANFRAAREARAEE - HERER
HENHERERMEB R FLR -

Annual Report & 2021/22 29



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® 2 KB ZEZIEEEE AR AT

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBEEFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. (Australia), aged 53, was appointed as an
executive Director on 28 February 2017. Dr. Ou is a member of
remuneration committee of the Company. He is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. Ou holds a Doctor
of Philosophy degree in Civil & Resource Engineering from The
University of Western Australia, Australia. Dr. Ou also holds two
Bachelor of Engineering degrees in Engineering Management
& Structural Engineering respectively. Dr. Ou has over 30 years
of professional engineering and management experience in
civil and industrial engineering areas both in Australia and
China, including residential and commercial high-rise buildings
as well as projects in oil & gas, mining and infrastructure
industries. Dr. Ou had been a senior staff member in the world's
leading energy & resource firms including Kellogg Brown &
Root (formerly known as KBR Halliburton), WorleyParsons Pty
Ltd., as well as Sedgman Ltd., which is specialized in coal
processing and handling plants. Dr. Ou was an independent
non-executive director of Rey Resources Limited (a company
listed on ASX focusing on exploration and developing energy
resources in Australia). Dr. Ou participated in a number of key
energy and resource projects around the world such as acting
as the Lead Civil and Structural Engineer for BHP Billiton RGPé
Jimblebar project, Rio Tinto iron ore Dove Siding expansion
project; Chevron Wheatstone Domgas LNG Pipeline project,
Yemen LNG Project (in the Republic of Yemen) and Western
Australia Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline (Stage 5B)
project, etc. Dr. Ou was also an officer at Western Australia
government agency from 2003 to 2006. Dr. Ou also has
extensive experience and network in China. He was the general
manager and the chief engineer of Fujian Liming Construction
(REERPARETIRERA
manager of Fuzhou Henli Real Estate Development Pty Ltd (18
IN=EHEHERZEFRAF]) from 1993 to 1997. He was a guest
professor for Inner Mongolia University (A5 & AX2) and Inner
Mongolia University of Science & Technology (N5 & BHE A )

in China. Currently, Dr. Ou is an executive director of Aceso Life

Company* ( ) and deputy general

Science Group Limited (stock code: 474), the controlling
shareholder of the Company, whose shares are listed on the

main board of the Stock Exchange.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Lin, aged 61, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 6 October 2020. Mr. Xu is a member of remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Xu holds a Bachelor's degree
in Laws from Xian Political College, China and a Postgraduate
Certificate in Business Administration from Capital University of
Economics and Business in China. Mr. Xu is currently a senior
vice-president and president of China of Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited and General Manager of Chow Tai Fook
Investment Limited*. He has been engaged in economic
management for a long time. He has been working in different
positions in the government of the People’s Republic of China
and was once Hong Kong business development director of
CITIC Limited and the chairman of Kaisa Financial Group (Hong
Kong) Company Limited after 2017. With the exposure to
several positions, Mr. Xu has solid foundation in economic
theory and rich experience in management. Mr. Xu currently
serves as an independent non-executive director of China
United Venture Investment Limited (formerly known as Glory
Mark Hi-Tech (Holdings) Limited) (stock code: 8159, a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange) and chairman of Yunnan
Jinggu Forestry Co.,Ltd. (a company listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600265). Mr. Xu was an executive director
and executive vice-chairman of DTXS Silk Road Investment
Holdings Company Limited (Stock code: 620) from April 2020 to
February 2021, an independent non-executive director of
Lamtex Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1041) from March 2020 to
July 2020 and an executive director of Zhaobangji Properties
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1660) from October 2019 to
March 2020, whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wei Bin, aged 52, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 6 October 2020. Mr. Wei is a member of nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor's degree
in Auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics and a
Master’'s degree in Finance from Jinan University, and is a
Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in China. He is also a
non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Wei is currently the senior partner in
the asset management division of CDH Investments
Management (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent non-
executive director of Honghua Group Limited (Stock code: 196)
and an executive director of OCI International Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 329). He is also an independent director of Huize
Holding Ltd., a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: HUIZ). Mr.
Wei was the chief accountant and the chief financial officer of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and has nearly 30
years of experience in complex transactions, M&A integration
and enterprise management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mak Yiu Tong, aged 63, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 February 2017. Mr. Mak is the
chairman of each of remuneration committee and nomination
committee and a member of audit committee of the Company.
Mr. Mak graduated from the China University of Political
Science and Law with a Bachelor of Law degree in 1998. Mr.
Mak is a legal executive of Chiu, Szeto & Cheng, a firm of
solicitors in Hong Kong. Mr. Mak has been working in the legal
industry for over 30 years. Mr. Mak currently serves as an
independent non-executive director of Talent Property Group
Limited (stock code: 760) and Aceso Life Science Group Limited
(stock code:474, the controlling shareholder of the Company),
whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Mak served as an independent non-executive
director of each of Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1353,
whose shares were delisted from the main board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 8 February 2021) from April 2017 to
February 2021 and Up Energy Development Group Limited
(stock code: 307, whose shares were delisted from the main
board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 5 January 2022)
from April 2017 to January 2022.

Mr. Li Chi Keung Eliot, aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 March 2017. Mr. Li is
a member of each of audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Li has obtained
a Bachelor of Arts Degree at the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and has obtained the Postgraduate Certificate in
Business Administration from University of Leicester in England.
Mr. Li is the executive director of First Shanghai Securities
Limited (“First Shanghai”). Prior to joining First Shanghai, he
was the managing director of South China Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 619), whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Li is a chartered wealth manager of the
Chartered Wealth Manager Institute and the director of the
Hong Kong Association of Online Brokers. Mr. Li has held
various senior positions including director of corporate
development and vice president of corporate planning and
development in financial institutes over his 15 years of

experience in the financial industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham (alias Abraham Razack), aged 76,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15
October 2020. Mr. Shek is also a member of audit committee of
the Company. Mr. Shek graduated from the University of
Sydney and holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma in
Education. He has also obtained a Juris Doctor Degree from
City University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of
the Peace in 1995 and was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star and
the Gold Bauhinia Star by the government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “HKSAR”) in 2007 and 2013
respectively. Mr. Shek was a member of the HKSAR Legislative
Council representing the Real Estate and Construction
Functional Constituency from 2000 to 2021. He is currently a
member of the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption, a member of the
Court and Council of The University of Hong Kong and a
honorary member of Court of The Hong Kong University of
Science & Technology.

Mr. Shek is an independent non-executive director of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313),
Chuang's China Investments Limited (stock code: 298),
Chuang’s Consortium International Limited (stock code: 367),
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120)
Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007),
CSI Properties Limited (stock code: 497), Everbright Grand
China Assets Limited (stock code: 3699), Far East Consortium
International Limited (stock code: 35), ITC Properties Group
Limited (stock code: 199), Lai Fung Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1125), Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1212), Landing International Development Limited (stock
code: 582), NWS Holdings Limited (stock code: 659), Paliburg
Holdings Limited (stock code: 617) and International Alliance
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1563), all being listed
public companies in Hong Kong. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited
(the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (stock
code: 2778)) and Regal Portfolio Management Limited (the
manager of Regal Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code:
1881)), both trusts are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Shek is
an independent non-executive director of Ping An OneConnect
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited. From January 2017, Mr. Shek acts as
an independent non-executive director of Goldin Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 530) and has been re-designated
to an executive director of the same since March 2021. Mr. Shek
has ceased to act as an independent non-executive director of
SJM Holdings Limited (Stock code: 880) since May 2021 and was
appointed as an advisor of the same thereafter.
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EEREREEEBEEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

During the last three years, Mr. Shek was an independent non-
executive director of Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 47, whose shares were delisted from the main board of
the Stock Exchange with effect from 27 January 2022).

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 July 2021. Mr. Chan
is the chairman of audit committee and a member of each of
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of New
South Wales, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in
Accounting and Computer Information Systems. He is a fellow
member of each of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Certified Practising Accountants, Australia and
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Chan has over 20
years of experience in auditing, accounting, investment and
financial management. Mr. Chan is currently an investment
manager of Sprint Asset Management Limited. Mr. Chan is also
an independent non-executive director of each of China
Dredging Environment Protection Holdings Limited (stock code:
871), Changhong Jiahua Holdings Limited (stock code: 3991)
and Aceso Life Science Group Limited (Stock code: 474, the
controlling shareholder of the Company), whose securities are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan
resigned as independent non-executive director of Shenyang
Public Utility Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 747) in
September 2020. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive
director of each of Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1353,
whose shares were delisted from the main board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 8 February 2021) from April 2017 to
February 2021, Grand Peace Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8108, whose shares were delisted from GEM of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 27 August 2021) from March 2021 to
August 2021 and Up Energy Development Group Limited (stock
code: 307, whose shares were delisted from the main board of
the Stock Exchange with effect from 5 January 2022) from April
2017 to January 2022.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Lai Ping was appointed as the company secretary on
1 February 2019. Ms. Chan is a solicitor qualified to practise in
Hong Kong and a member of The Law Society of Hong Kong.
She is also a consultant of a law firm in Hong Kong. Ms. Chan
has many years of experience in advising on corporate finance,
mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance, regulatory
and compliance matters. Prior to joining the Company, she was
the company secretary and general counsel of China Shandong
Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code:
412). Ms. Chan has a bachelor of laws degree and a
postgraduate certificate in laws from the University of Hong
Kong. She also has a master of corporate finance degree from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and
maintaining high standard of corporate governance as the
Board believes that effective corporate governance practices
are fundamental in enhancing the shareholder value and
safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and other
stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound
corporate governance principles that emphasise a quality
Board, effective internal control, stringent disclosure practices

and transparency and accountability to all Shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for the deviation from
the code provision C.2.1.

Under code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual in order to ensure that there is clear division
of responsibilities between the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive of the Company. The Company has not
appointed a chairman and the Board provides leadership for
the Company. Having considered the business operation of the
Group at the material time, it is believed that the Board, which
consists of experienced professionals, can function effectively as
a whole, while the executive Directors along with other
members of senior management of the Company are capable
of overseeing the day-to-day management of the Group under

the strong corporate governance structure in place.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(continued)

The Company nevertheless understands the importance of
compliance with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code and
will continue to review the structure from time to time and
consider appointing a chairman/chairlady of the Board as and

when appropriate.

The Group commits to continuously improving its corporate
governance practices by periodic review to ensure that the

Group continues to meet the requirements of the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ transactions of
the listed securities of the Company. The Company has made
specific enquiry to all Directors, and all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code and its code of

conduct during the Year.
BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
Role and function

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the
business operations of the Group. It formulates strategic
directions, oversees the operations and monitors the financial
performance of the Group. The management is delegated with
power and authority by the Board for the day-to-day
management and operations of the Group. The management is

accountable to the Board for the Company’s overall operation.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
(continued)

Role and function (continued)

The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for leadership and
control of the Group and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising the Group's affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, approving the annual
development plan and budget, monitoring financial and
operating performance, reviewing the effectiveness of the
internal control system and supervising and managing the

management’s performance.

Regarding the Group's corporate governance, during the Year,
the Board has, in accordance with the terms of reference,

performed the following duties:

e determining and reviewing the policies and practices on

corporate governance of the Group;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior

management;

o reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and
practices in compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of

conduct applicable to the Directors and employees; and

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code

and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to the management.
The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically
to ensure they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
The Board gives clear directions to the management as to the
matters that must be approved by the Board before decisions

are made on behalf of the Group by the management.
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TEERRE

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES EEZeHRREZSER(8)

(continued)

Composition ARk
As at the date of this report, the Board comprises three RAHERH BEELOHE=—"EHNTEE WA
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and four FFHITEENNEBEILIFRHITES -
independent non-executive Directors.
Membership of Board Committee(s)
EEZEgZHE
Executive Directors:
HITES
Mr. Fok Chi Tak Member of the Nomination Committee
Mr. Tang Yiu Chi James
WRE KL
Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. (Australia) Member of the Remuneration Committee
BRESEE L - AP M) FMEEEXE
Non-executive Directors:
FHITESE !
Mr. Xu Lin Member of the Remuneration Committee
PR A FTMEEEKE
Mr. Wei Bin Member of the Nomination Committee
FOR LA RBEEEKE
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES EEZ€HRREZSER(8)

(continued)

Composition (continued)

AR (%E)

Membership of Board Committee(s)
BEEZEgCHE

Independent Non-executive Directors:

BYFHTES:
Mr. Mak Yiu Tong
BiRESE

Mr. Li Chi Keung Eliot
FEBRAE

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham
AEHTE

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan
BR¥GAE KL
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Member of the Audit Committee
BERELZEENKE

Chairman of the Nomination Committee
REEZEBEEXF

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

HMEEEEE

Member of the Audit Committee
EREZEENKE

Member of the Nomination Committee
REEBEGNXE

Member of the Remuneration Committee

HEEEKE

Member of the Audit Committee
EZEZBEEKE

Chairman of the Audit Committee
BERLZEEEF

Member of the Nomination Committee
REEZBENE

Member of the Remuneration Committee

FMEEEKE
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
(continued)

Composition (continued)

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
there was no financial, business, family or other material/

relevant relationship among the members of the Board.
Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has complied with rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules. Throughout the Year, there were at least three
independent non-executive Directors on the Board and the
number of independent non-executive Directors represents at
least one-third of the Board. As such, there existed a strong
independent element in the Board, which could effectively
exercise independent judgement. The Company has also
complied with rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules which stipulates
that one of the independent non-executive Directors must
possess appropriate professional qualification or accounting or
related financial management expertise. In compliance with the
CG Code, the independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified as such in all corporate communications

that disclose the names of the Directors.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be

independent under the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
(continued)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Each Director has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the articles of association of the Company

(the "Articles of Association”).

By virtue of Article 112 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board or as an additional Director. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for

re-election.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. At
each annual general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors
for the time being will retire from office by rotation. However, if
the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall be the
number of retiring Directors. The Directors who shall retire in
each year will be those who have been longest in the office
since their last re-election or appointment but as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree

among themselves) be determined by lot.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
(continued)

Supply of and access to information

All Board members have separate and independent access to
the Company’s management to fulfill their duties, and upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice
under appropriate circumstances and at the Company’s
expenses. All Directors also have access to the company
secretary of the Company who is responsible for ensuring that
the Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Board meetings are structured so as to encourage
open discussion, frank debate and active participation by the
Directors in meetings. The Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable
the Directors to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other information put before the Board. Queries raised by
the Directors are answered fully and promptly. Meeting agenda
accompanied by relevant Board/Board committee papers are
distributed to the Directors/Board committee members with
reasonable notice in advance of the Board/Board committee
meeting. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees, which recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and decisions reached thereat,
including any concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by
any Director, are kept by the company secretary of the

Company and open for inspection by the Directors.
Liability insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities in respect of any legal action which may be taken
against the Directors arising out of its corporate activities. The

insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
(continued)

Directors’ continuing professional development
program

All Directors confirmed that they had complied with code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during the Year. All Directors
have participated in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
has arranged for, and provided fund for, training in the form of
in-house training, seminars or other appropriate courses during
the Year and relevant training materials have been distributed

to all the Directors.
Board and General Meetings

The Board meets regularly and, in addition to regular meetings,
as and when required by particular circumstances. During the
Year, the Directors’ attendance of the Board/Board committees

meetings is set out as follows:
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Attendance/Number of meetings

LEEHENY BERNY
Executive Audit  Nomination Remuneration General

Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Committee meetings

B2¢ §fiZRE BNZEE RAZRE  HHZseE EN-
Total number of meetings BreRERY b 9 2 2 2 1
Executive Directors: 47ES:
Mr. Fok Chi Tak ExEEE bl 99 NANER 202 NANER 1
Mr. Tang Yiu Chi James y’%’“%i 6/ 99  NATER  NAMER  NATER n
Dr. Zhiliang Qu, J. (Australe ERET - ATa O bl 99 NATNER  NATER 22 11
Mr. Zheng Li (Note 1) é e atEa) 44 13 NAMER  NAMER  NATER  NATER
Non-executive Directors: FoqEE:
Mr. Xu Lin ES i 66 NATER  NAMER  NATER 22 11
Mr. Wei Bin ATy 66 NANER  NATER 22 NATER 7
Independent Non-executive Directors:  BUFHTES
Mr. Mak Yiu Tong RRRREH o6 NIANER il i 22 1/1
Mr. Li Chi Keung Eliot PRRAE b6 NATER 0N 0N 0N n
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham RERRLE 56 NATER 22 NATER  NATER N
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (Note )~ Bishisett (M) 2 NANER n 00 00 n
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (Note 3) FRERE (M) B NAMER 11 1/1 171 NATNER
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
(continued)

Board and General Meetings (continued)

Notes:
1. Mr. Zheng Li resigned as an executive Director on 21 July 2021.
2. Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the member
of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 12 July 2021.

3. Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee, the
member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 12 July 2021.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) Executive Committee, (i) Audit
Committee, (iii) Remuneration Committee, and (iv) Nomination
Committee with defined terms of reference. The terms of
reference of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, which explain their
respective roles and the authority delegated to them by the
Board, are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice and other assistance under appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 October
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraphs D.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (chairman), Mr. Mak Yiu Tong, Mr.
Li Chi Keung Eliot and Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things, to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group. It also acts as an important link
between the Board and the Company’s auditors in matters
within the scope of the group audit. Meetings shall be held at
least twice a year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

A summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee

during the Year and up to the date of this report included:

(a)

reviewing the audited accounts and final results
announcement for the Previous Year and the interim
report and the interim results announcement for the six
months ended 30 September 2021;

reviewing the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and ensuring compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other statutory

requirements;

reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems;

meeting with the external auditors to go through any
significant audit issues or key findings noted during the
audit of the Group's final results for the Previous Year and
the unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30
September 2021;

reviewing the continuing connected transactions entered

into by the Group; and

making recommendations on the re-appointment,
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external

auditor.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been addressed

by the management. The work and findings of the Audit

Committee have been reported to the Board. During the Year,

there was no issue brought to the attention of the management

and the Board which were of significant importance to require

disclosure in this annual report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 23
October 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises five members, namely Mr. Mak Yiu Tong
(chairman), Dr. Zhiliang Ou, Mr. Xu Lin, Mr. Chan Ming Sun
Jonathan and Mr. Li Chi Keung Eliot. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are, amongst other things, to make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration
packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to the
Directors and senior management and on the Group's policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management. No individual Director was allowed to be involved

in deciding his own remuneration.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration

Committee during the Year included:

(@) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the Company'’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and

senior management’s remuneration;
(b) assessing performance of executive Directors; and

(c) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and senior
management with reference to, among others, the Board's
corporate goals and objectives, their merits and

contributions.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee of
the Company annually. Details of the Directors’ remuneration

are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the Year, the remuneration of senior management
(whose biographies are set out in the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report), other than the Directors, is listed as below
by band:

EEHM

FEFMDEFFERBEF NG  BERE
RARAEE REEE - o) ERFMBA
ATFMEEEEERT - EEFW 2 HEHRN
A BT RAN 12 -

BREEASHH

RAEE  BREFIN SRERAL (HEEHRN
AEREZNSNEREREFE] —8) 2%
e RSN

No. of person

AEL
HK$1,000,000 and below 1,000,000 870 & AT~ 1
Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five RIEEWRAINEET N BETFHBECESRAE &

highest paid employees as required to be disclosed under
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 23
October 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
comprises five members, namely Mr. Mak Yiu Tong (chairman),
Mr. Fok Chi Tak, Mr. Wei Bin, Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan and
Mr. Li Chi Keung Eliot. The Nomination Committee is mainly
responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
appointment of Directors and succession planning for the

Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year and up to the date of this annual

report included:

(@) reviewing and discussing the Board’s structure, size and
composition, diversity as well as the competence,
experience, academic background and qualification of its

members;

(b) reviewing retirement of Directors by rotation, the re-
appointment of retiring Directors at annual general

meetings;

(c) assessing the independence of independent non-

executive Directors; and

(d) considering and making recommendations on the

appointment of new Director.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee may invite nominations of
candidates from Board members for its consideration. The
Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by Board members. The factors in assessing

the suitability of a proposed candidate for director include:

o business experience relevant and beneficial to the
Company, taking into account the need for diversity of the
Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, knowledge, professional

experience and skills;
e character and integrity;
o accomplishments in personal careers;
° independence;

e willingness to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as

a Board member;

and such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee shall make

recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy. A summary
of such board diversity policy, the measurable objectives set for
implementing such board diversity policy, and the progress of

achieving those objectives are set out below.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In
designing the Board’s composition, the diversity of the Board
has been considered from a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All
Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for

the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversified
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
potential contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board.

Monitoring

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring
achievement of the measurable objectives as set out in the

board diversity policy.
Diversity of the Board

The existing Board members are well experienced in the
construction industry, investment or finance businesses. Some
of them are professionals in project management, finance,

accounting or legal with extensive experience.

In view of the present scale and complexities of the Group's
operations and the nature of the risks and challenges it faces,
the Nomination Committee considers the Company has
achieved a right balance of skills, experience, knowledge and

diversity among the existing Board members.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The Board would
consider, inter alia, the following factors before declaring or

recommending dividend to the Shareholders:

the Company'’s actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the

Company;

e the level of the Company's debts to equity ratio, return on

equity and the relevant financial covenants;

®  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by any contract entered into by the Company or

its subsidiaries;

e the Company’s expected working capital requirements

and future expansion plans;

e the general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Company and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Company; and
e any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.
Any payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.
The Board will continually review the dividend policy from time

to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be

paid in any particular amount or at all for any given period.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and accounting
standards. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities
to ensure that the financial statements for the Group are
published in a timely manner. The management has provided
the Board with monthly updates and sufficient information for
the Board to develop and maintain a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects. The Directors consider that the financial
statements have been prepared in conformity with the generally
accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong, which reflect
amounts that are based on the best estimates and reasonable,
informed and prudent judgment of the Board and management
with an appropriate consideration to materiality. The Directors,
having made appropriate enquires, confirm that they are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s

ability to continue as a going concern.

The accounting systems and internal control of the Group are
designed to prevent any misappropriation of the Group's
assets, any unauthorized transactions as well as to ensure the
accuracy of the accounting records and the true and fairness of

the financial statements.

The Board also acknowledges its responsibility to present a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment in the
Company’s annual and interim reports, other announcements
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
and reports to the regulators as well as to information required

to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report contained

in this annual report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS' REMUNERATION SN R BN 2 B &

The total fees paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit ARG EINEZHEIRH 2 B LIEBRREE
services provided by the external auditors during the Year are {1 Btz ERAEWT :

as follows:

Auditor's remuneration ZE AT

Fee paid/payable for the
year ended 31 March

2022
BE-E-_—_F=ZHA=t—H
HEEZER BLER
HK$'million

EE-%i:E

Audit services EZIRTE 1
Non-audit services FEEIZARTE =

Total =t 1
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control and risk management system,
which is designed to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement of management and
financial information and records or against financial losses or
fraud. The Group has in place an effective internal control
system which encompasses sound control environment,
appropriate segregation of duties, well defined policies and
procedures, close monitoring and is reviewed and enhanced by

the management at regular intervals.

The Group is committed to maintaining and upholding good
corporate governance practice and internal control system. The
Company has in place an integrated framework of internal
control which is consistent with the principles outlined in the
“Internal Control and Risk Management — A Basic Framework”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants as illustrated below:
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AEBENEFRFMNETRIFEEE AT R RAE
EEHE - ARFCHE - EERMBABSFEIA
SRTIRM [ ABE IR ERAREIE — EARE] A
Rz ANRREIRESR - FHIFRANT ¢

Monitoring ° Ongoing assessment of control systems’ performance
BiEe FET LB E 2 R
o Internal audits performed by internal audit department

BRI BB P TET T R B X

Information and Communication e

Information in sufficient details is provided to the appropriate person in a

o Channels of communication across the Group and with customers, suppliers

o Channels of communication for people to report any suspected

EITRZBBERE

Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out

EARBE timely manner
MEmaBEATREADSHZZER
and external parties
RURNEEALARERTS - HEFREI LT ZBBERSB
improprieties
AR Al R ERIRAE A AT RE
Control Activities o
EEED HIE AT RATTE RIS S 2 BUR RIZfF

° Control activities include performance review, segregation of duties,

authorization, physical count, access control, documentation and records, etc.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

B EE R AR (8)

Risk Assessment J Identification, evaluation and assessment of the key risk factors affecting the
BB R fE achievement of the Company’s objectives are performed regularly
EHIER  FELHEREERA QT BRI ERBEER
o Undertake proper actions to manage the risks so identified
REVSETTENAB TR Z B
Control Environment J Channels to communicate the Company’s commitment to integrity and high
EEERIR ethical standards to the staff are established
RIURBAE THEEARRAHANEFAELRDBREE
J Organizational chart and limits of authority are set and communicated to staff
concerned
HE W MAERE B TEEQRREE MER
J Reporting lines in accordance with organizational chart and line of authority

are set

RIR A BIREE LR HE & R

The internal audit department is responsible for conducting
independent reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's internal control and risk management system, reporting
regularly the results to the Board through the Audit Committee
and making recommendations to the relevant department

management for necessary actions.

During the Year, the internal audit department had conducted
reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control system
covering all material aspects related to financial, operational,
compliance controls, various functions for risk management and
physical and information security. Internal control reports
containing its findings and results were reported to the Audit
Committee during the Audit Committee meetings and had

been delivered to all Directors for review.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

The Audit Committee had reported during the Audit
Committee meetings the key findings identified by the
Company's external auditors in respect of the Group's internal
controls and risk management and discussed findings and
actions or measures taken in addressing those findings. The
Company considers the internal control systems and risk
management were effective during the Year. No material issues
on the Group's internal control system and risk management
have been identified by the Group's internal audit department
and the Company’s external auditors during the reporting

period which required significant rectification measures.
COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Lai Ping was appointed as the company secretary on
1 February 2019. Ms. Chan is a solicitor qualified to practise the
laws of Hong Kong and a member of The Law Society of Hong
Kong. She is also a consultant of a law firm in Hong Kong. Ms.
Chan has many years of experience in advising on corporate
finance, mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance,
regulatory and compliance matters. Prior to joining the
Company, she was the company secretary and general counsel
of China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 412). Ms. Chan has a bachelor of
laws degree and a postgraduate certificate in laws from The
University of Hong Kong. She also has a master of corporate

finance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

During the Year, Ms. Chan has satisfied the requirement of the

Listing Rules for receiving 15 hours of professional training.
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PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE
PUT TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the company secretary of the
Company, who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board's direct responsibilities to
the Board and communications relating to ordinary business
matters, such as suggestions and inquiries, to the senior

management of the Company:

By post

Rooms 2510-2518, 25/F
Shui On Centre

6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

By email

jovey.chan@haotianhk.com

Shareholders may also directly raise questions during the

Shareholders’ meetings.

PROCEDURES FOR CONVENING GENERAL
MEETINGS BY SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may whenever it thinks fit to convene extraordinary general

meetings.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general

meetings.
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PROCEDURES FOR CONVENING GENERAL
MEETINGS BY SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company by mail at Rooms 2510-
2518, 25/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)

by the Company.

Shareholders shall follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association
for including a resolution at any general meeting. The
requirements and procedures are set out above in the
paragraph headed “Procedures for convening general meetings

by shareholders”.
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Directors recognize the importance of long-term support
from the Shareholders. The Company attaches great priority to
establish effective communication with its shareholders and
investors. In an effort to enhance such communications, the
Company provides information relating to the Company and its
business in its annual report and also disseminates such
information electronically through its website at http://www.

haotianint.com.hk.

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an
important event as it provides an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and its shareholders. All
Directors, senior management and external auditors will make
every effort to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company to address Shareholders’ queries. All the
Shareholders are given at least twenty one (21) days’ notice of
the date and venue of the annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company supports the CG Code's principle to
encourage Shareholders’ participation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEEARE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

The Board will review regularly the Group’s operation and
corporate governance of the Company in order to ensure
compliance with the Articles of Association, the laws of the

Cayman Islands and to protect the interest of its shareholders.
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional document of the
Company during the Year. An up to date version of Articles of
Association is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present the annual report and the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group

is principally engaged in the following principal activities:

(@)  the construction machinery business, serving primarily the
construction sector in Hong Kong, including (i) rental of
construction machinery; (ii) trading of construction
machinery and spare parts; and (i) provision of machinery

transportation services;

(b)  the provision of financial services, conducting: (i) Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts),
Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and

Futures Ordinance; and (ii) money lending activities; and
(c) the development of property.

Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in

note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 90 to 92. No dividend was
paid or proposed by the Company during the Year, nor has any
dividend been proposed by the Directors since the end of the
Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and
the discussion on the Group's future business development are
set out in the sections headed “Director’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, and the key financial
performance indicators are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis”. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
discussions on the Group's relationships with key stakeholders,
environmental policies and performance and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on

the Group are as follows:
Relationship with key stakeholders

The Group's success depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and

subcontractors and suppliers.
Employees

Employees are regarded as important and valuable assets of
the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource
management is to reward and recognise performing staff by
providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with
appropriate incentives, and to promote career development
and progression by appropriate training and providing

opportunities within the Group for career advancement.
Customers

The major customers include construction work companies
engaged in either public or private construction projects in
Hong Kong which require particular types of construction
machinery at different stages of their projects. We have
established long-term business relationship with some of the
customers for over 10 years. The sales and marketing team
maintains contacts with these customers regularly to understand
their needs and to provide relevant information to support their

projects.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Subcontractors and Suppliers

The major suppliers include manufacturers and service providers
of construction machinery, oil companies, and other third-party
service companies for maintenance, transportation and
assembly/disassembly services engaged by us. We proactively
communicate with the suppliers to ensure they are committed
to delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services.
We will select suppliers from the pre-approved lists of

subcontractors and suppliers.
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We believe that our business also depends on our ability to
meet our customers’ requirements in respect of safety, quality
and environmental aspects. To meet our customers’
requirements on safety, quality and environmental aspects, we
have established safety, quality and environmental management
systems. Through the systematic and effective control of our
operations, compliance with safety, quality and environmental
requirements can be further assured. Further discussions on the
Group's environmental policy and performance are covered by
a separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report which
will be available at the Group's website and the website of the
Stock Exchange on or before 31 August 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Based on the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has complied in all material respect with laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Company.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group identified and determined the major risks which may
affect the operation results and financial conditions of the
Group through risk management process, which includes the

following:

Risk in delay or default of payment in the Group's
money lending business

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding loan receivables of the
money lending business of the Group (net of impairment) was
approximately HK$59 million, representing approximately 2% of
the total assets of the Group. Any delay or default in payment
of the loans will have an adverse impact on the Company’s
working capital, cash flow and subsequently the profits of the

Company.

To manage such risk, the Company requires borrowers to
provide appropriate security and closely monitors the loan
receivable collection cycle from time to time to get full
collection of the outstanding amounts due from borrowers. The
Company will assess and decide to enforce the security
provided by borrowers or take legal actions as appropriate. All
exposures are subject to regular review and assessment for

possible impairment.
Compliance risk

The Group operates financial services business through
subsidiaries with appropriate licenses to conduct regulated
activities and money lending. During the course of providing
such financial services, the Group would be exposed to
compliance risk, including the risk of legal liability, being
subjected to regulatory proceedings, disciplinary action, or loss
of property or business reputation arising from violation of laws,
regulations and rules due to the operation and management or
practices of the Group or its personnel. In order to effectively
control compliance risk, the Group has put in place a
practicable compliance management system and provided
resources and support to develop lawful and compliance

operations of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

Financial risk

The Group's diversified business is exposed to a variety of risks,
such as market risks, credit risk and liquidity risk. Further details
of the financial risk management objectives and policies are set

out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Company and of the Group during the Year are set out in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated

financial statements.
RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 96.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had reserves amounted to
approximately HK$1,557 million available for distribution.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 220.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial

statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fok Chi Tak

Mr. Tang Yiu Chi James

Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. (Australia)

Mr. Zheng Li (resigned on 21 July 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Lin
Mr. Wei Bin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Yiu Tong

Mr. Li Chi Keung Eliot

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (appointed on 12 July 2021)
Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua (resigned on 12 July 2021)

Information regarding directors’ emoluments are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section
headed "“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this report.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Fok Chi Tak, Mr. Mak Yiu Tong and Mr. Li Chi Keung Eliot
will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The aforesaid Directors,

being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are

independent.
DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) has entered
into service agreement with the Company for a term of three
years unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other, and is subject to
termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by

rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles of Association.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Saved as disclosed in the section “Share Incentive Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year was the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate and none of the Directors, or their spouses or
children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for the
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right

during the Year.
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme

Details of the share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) and share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Share
Incentive Scheme” below and note 39 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Save as disclosed, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing

shares during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the WZZ=—
THRABRARFRHEE AR EE (TR RES
NEAEIRBIZEXVED) 2 AR RS ([Hfn]) - 48
BN K EEE R A REE S LS &P 352
RARARREIFAEE S M RE £ AR A Ht
BT ERETARME RN R Rz s
KoRBIT

Directors and chief executives of the Company in shares of the
Company (“the Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESERE

EERFETHRAERKRG HERSG

pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to Listing

Rules), were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary Shares and underlying

Shares of the Company

RE#ERS 2 E®

F=A=+—H BEBFRERAEE

RAEAREBEREEERD 2HR

Number of Percentage of
Shares held  Nature of shareholding
Name of Director/ EREE interest Total interests (Note 1)
chief executive Personal interests BEEDL
BEE TETHRASHSE AR RERME kR (BFEE1)
Fok Chi Tak (Note 2) 60,975,610 Beneficial owner 60,975,610 0.81%
EEE(ME2) EmfAA
Xu Lin (Note 3) 4,146,342 Beneficial owner 4,146,342 0.05%
PR (PRE3) EmBA
Wei Bin (Note 4) 4,146,342 Beneficial owner 4,146,342 0.05%
B (M 4) EmEBA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Long positions in ordinary Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company (continued)

Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 7,559,356,085
Shares in issue as at 31 March 2022.

2. These Shares are shares granted to Mr. Fok Chi Tak under the Share
Award Scheme.

3. These Shares are shares to be issued and allotted to Mr. Xu Lin as part of
his emolument as a Director pursuant to the terms of his service contract.

4. These Shares are shares to be issued and allotted to Mr. Wei Bin as part
of his emolument as a Director pursuant to the terms of his service
contract.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, so far as is known
to the Directors, none of the Directors and chief executive had
any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other

than Directors or chief executive of the Company), who had

interests or short positions in the Shares, the underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were required
to be disclosed pursuant to the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to

therein, were as follows:
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R-CE-—F=ZA=+—H #AEBEERARFAE
RITBABMHA > THAL(BEFAARBEETT
BABRRIN) RAR R R EEEEE (F & R ES
KEFEGPIEXVER) 2 Bty - BB R E#E
THREERBEESMHAERMEXVEE 2R3N
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Number of Percentage of
Number of underlying Capacity/ shareholding
Name of Shareholder Shares held Shares held Nature of interest Total interest (Note 1)
Fr 1868 BRET ?}tb
BEREE/ BB BREE BHEE 56 EEME R (F5E1)
ALS (Note 2) 3,562,741,259 — Interests of controlled 3,562,741,259 47.13%
B corporation
EEAGEYS XEH)EEER
Asia Link Capital Investment Holdings Limited 3,562,741,259 - Interests of controlled 3,562,741,259 47.13%
("Asia Link") (Note 2) corporation
TEAIEERERAR (I8 (ME2) EHEEER
Li Shao Yu (Note 2) 3,562,741,259 — Interests of controlled 3,562,741,259 47.13%
corporation
5 (M 2) REHEEER
China Construction Bank Corporation 1,156,000,000 - Security interest 1,156,000,000 15.30%
("CCBC") (Note 3)
FEBERRITRO AR AR ([P EET)(H5FE3) ERER
Soaring Wealth Ventures Limited 500,000,000 — Beneficial owner 500,000,000 6.61%
("Soaring Wealth”) (Note 4)
Soaring Wealth Ventures Limited E=EA
('Soaring Wealth |) (K5 4)
Lin Yuan (Note 4) 500,000,000 — Interests of controlled 1,000,000,000 13.23%
corporation
g (fizE4) G EE R
500,000,000 - Beneficial owner
ExEAA
Su Junhao 754,023,524 - Beneficial owner 754,023,524 9.97%
e EmEEA
Hundred Gain International Holding Limited 393,344,000 — Beneficial owner 393,344,000 5.20%
("HG International”) (Note 5)
Hundred Gain International Holding Limited E=EA
(THG International ) (K 5E5)
Fong Tim (Note 5) 454,832,000 — Interests of controlled 454,832,000 6.02%
__corporation
Fong Tim (Ffiz£5) RPEH)EE R
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Notes:

1. All interests stated are long positions. The percentage of shareholding is
calculated on the basis of 7,559,356,085 Shares in issue as at 31 March
2022.

2. Ms. Li Shao Yu is beneficially interested in a total of 3,562,741,259 Shares
through Asia Link, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li. Asia Link’s interest in
3,562,741,259 Shares are held through ALS, which is 45.45% owned by
Asia Link. Among ALS's interest in 3,562,741,259 Shares, (i) 2,176,012,000
Shares are held through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Win Team
Investments Limited and Hao Tian Management (China) Limited; (ii)
1,315,300,688 Shares are held through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Win
Team Investments Limited and Hao Tian Management (Hong Kong)
Limited; and (iii) 71,428,571 Shares are held through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Guo Guang Limited and Hao Tian Finance Company Limited.

3. CCBC, through Cheer Hope Holdings Limited, which is its indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary, holds the security interest in those 1,156,000,000
Shares.

4. Ms. Lin Yuan is beneficially interested in a total of 1,000,000,000 Shares,
among which, 500,000,000 Shares are held by Ms. Lin as beneficial owner,
and 500,000,000 Shares are held by Soaring Wealth which is wholly-owned
by Ms. Lin.

5. Mr. Fong Tim was beneficially interested in a total of 454,832,000 Shares,
among which 393,344,000 Shares were held through HG International and
61,488,000 Shares were held through Hundred Gain Industrial Investment
Company Limited ("HG Industrial”). Both HG International and HG
Industrial are wholly-owned by Mr. Fong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors and
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register referred to therein.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
Share Option Scheme

The Company's share option scheme was adopted pursuant to
a resolution passed on 23 October 2015 for the purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons who the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
Board may grant options to eligible persons, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for the Shares.
Eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme, amongst others,
include any executives, any employee (including proposed, full-
time or part-time employee), a director or proposed director
(including an independent non-executive director), a direct or
indirect shareholder of any member of the Company and its
subsidiaries and an associate of any of the aforementioned

persons.

The Board shall set out in the offer the terms on which the
option is to be granted. The maximum number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time. No options shall be granted
under the Share Option Scheme at any time if such grant shall

result in the scheme limit being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at 10
December 2015, being the date of the listing of Shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Company may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for
the time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this

limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (continued)
Share Option Scheme (continued)

Any grant of options to any Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as such term as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company, or any of their respective associates
under the Share Option Scheme is subject to the prior approval
of the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who or whose associates
is the grantee of an option). Where any grant of options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director, or any of their respective associates, would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on
the date of such grant; and (ii) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million, such further grant of the
options shall be subject to prior approval of the Shareholders
with such person and his associates abstaining from voting in

favour of general meeting.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer is made. Options
granted shall be taken up upon payment of HK$1 as
consideration for the grant of option. Options may be exercised
at any time from the date which option is deemed to be granted
and accepted and expired on the date as the Board in its
absolute discretion determine and which shall not exceeding a
period of 10 years from the date on which the share options are
accepted but subject to the provisions for early termination

thereof contained in the Share Option Scheme.

74 Annual Report G 3 2021/22

IR0 R Bt & (48)
ERERE(E)

REBEEASATAES  ARRETBRITERA
BREERR(ERR LMARAD RFRFFAZE
BB AR EAIBRE  HEEREB I
TEE(TERERBREARAZBIIFRNITE
SRHEBEA)BE - WA E BRRIB L IFATT
EERRESB2EMBEARDEMBRE
HEHABREALPTER KSR 2 BAE (B
BITE - EFEH MR ARTTRZBRE) B2 8TE
MEBRTEGTRITZIBOR12EAREHEREE
HAEB(BREZE) A KERL BHERTRN
HBi80.1% « R () RB RN E L BHMELEA
HERABROD KD EFEREBBS0AEE
7T RIREE - IR EBREAS AR R E
MEBALTREBEARZNBRAE ERERE

EREEBREZZENANMFLEBENE R (2
R H)ECAREE® - LXHBRENS - B
XM VETTEREMERBREZNRE - BiE
A B BRRERRE AR MRS BERERTTE -
VYREFSERNEET 2B MER  ETSHE
BEEMNEREE BE0FHR - BARER
PRt BIPTEL IR M IR R AR LE



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® £ XFIRZZIEE LB AR AT

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (continued)
Share Option Scheme (continued)

The subscription price is determined by the Board, and shall not
be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of offer; and (i) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer date. The
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on 23 October 2015. No share options
were granted, forfeited or expired during the Year. As at the
date of this annual report, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 100,000,000
Shares, representing approximately 1.32% of the issued shares

of the Company.
Share Award Scheme

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme on 24
April 2020, being an incentive measure to recognise the
contributions by selected participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them; and to attract the right talents
for promoting the future development and expansion of the
Group, with a view to achieving the objective of increasing the
value of the Group by motivating the participants to strive for
the continual operation and future development and expansion
of the Group and aligning the interests of the participants and
the shareholders of the Company.

Participants include any director (including executive director,
non-executive director and independent non-executive
director), employee (whether full time or part time), officer,
agent or consultant of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
any of its affiliates or any other person as determined by the
Board, whom the Board considers, in its absolute discretion, has

contributed or will contribute to the Group.

ESERE

R 40 BBt & (45)
R R (E)

REERESSET  TEIRUTESSE ()
REH DR ZME A RERAHFBDKTE :
M BEZHEHMAREEABRIATARE
RETSHRHFHRTE - BRESAEE =S —H
FTAZT=HRI0OFHANERIRER - RARFE
B MEEAERERRD  RWEER - R
FHAH - BIBERERT BRI H T 2 RGM B
#$100,000,000 % - AHE A AR DR B EHITRGH L
1.32% °

42 SR =t &

ARBR B -_TFMA -+ 1B R EE
AE ERREERE ERAEE2EEFLL
BE URANEREEBAREIRS  ARES
BEATAMEEAEBRREREETER - B
HMABBRE2REDSANEBRFELEARRR
BRBBEXREHEME S > LFESEEEANRFR
RMEBEF  KMERREAAEEEELER -

SHEECQRESE2RNBER/ELIHEYH A
SEFLERZ AR R REEMMNEARSEE
MBBEAREMNES(BRATES  FATES
RBIIFEMITESR) BE(THEBIER) 5
ABE REARBEERETSREIEMAL

Annual Report & 2021/22 75



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® 2 KB ZEZIEEEE AR AT

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (continued)
Share Award Scheme (continued)

Unless early terminated by the Board, the Share Award Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing
on the adoption date (i.e. 23 April 2030).

The Board has resolved to grant (i) a total of 196,274,929 award
Shares to selected grantees who are not connected with the
Company (the “Non-connected Grantee(s)”) on 24 April 2020;
and (i) a total of 65,475,610 award Shares to selected grantees
who are connected with the Company on 29 June 2020. The
award Shares granted under the scheme are subject to a vesting
scale in three equal tranches. During the Year, a total of
8,499,998 Shares have been issued to the Non-connected
Grantees in May 2021 and a total of 21,325,203 Shares have
been issued to the Connected Grantees in July 2021. As at 31
March 2022, a total of 59,650,409 award Shares remain
outstanding.

Further details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in note

39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (continued)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

Details of the movement of the award Shares during the Year

were as follows:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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RERFRBROHBEBFFOT

Changes of number of the award Shares

during the Year
AEERBROYE LD
Outstanding Lapsed/  Outstanding
asat Granted Vested Issued  cancelled asat
Name/category of 1 April during during during during 31 March
grantees Date of grant  Vesting period 2021 theYear ~ theYear  theYear  the Year 2022
RZB=-% R-B-ZF
mA-H AFE ZAZt-A
ARARE/ BRI RtiAH FEA HARY AEERE AFEBE AFERT AN/HEE HAEM
Directors of the Company/
its subsidiaries
A0F/ENRARES
Fok Chi Tak 0June2020 29 June 20201029 June 2023 60,975,610 0 20325203 20325203 0 40,650,407
ESi “3-%% “E-ZESAZTARE
~AZTRE  ZEZZ=ERAZThA
Lau ChiHang 29June 2020 29 June 2020 to 29 June 2023 1,500,000 0 500,000 500,000 0 1,000,000
L “FCRF CECREAACTARE
~AZTRE  ZEZZ=ERAZThA
Cheung Wang Lok 29 June 2020 29 June 2020 to 29 June 2023 1,500,000 0 500,000 500,000 0 1,000,000
v “3-%% “E-ZESAZTARE
~AZTRE  ZEZZ=ERAZThA
Sub-total 63,975,610 0 213523 21,325,203 0 42650407
M
Other Employees 4 April 2000 24 April 2020t 24 April 2023 25,500,000 0 8499998 8499998 0 17,000,002
RftEg “3-%% “ECREMACTIAR
MAZTEA  —Z-=%MA-tWEA
Total 89,475,610 0 2985201 29,825,201 0 59650409
it
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Licensing of office premises

On 31 December 2019, Glory Century Limited (as the licensor)
("Glory Century”) and Hao Tian Management (Hong Kong)
Limited (as the licensee) (“HTMHK"), an indirect subsidiary of
ALS entered into a license agreement for the licensing of the
use of the premises located at Rooms 2501-2509, 25/F., Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for a term
commencing from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022, at a
monthly license fee of approximately HK$258,000 for the first
year, HK$319,000 for the second year and HK$346,000 for the
third year (inclusive of management charges). The total license
fee shall be subject to an annual cap of HK$3,336,000 for the
first year, HK$4,068,000 for the second year and HK$4,392,000
for the third year.

HTMHK is an indirect subsidiary of ALS and Glory Century is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. ALS is an
indirect controlling shareholder of the Company, and HTMHK is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. For further details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 31 December 2019.

The auditors of the Company have provided a letter to the
Board pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules confirming
that, for the Year, the continuing connected transaction (i) has
received the approval of the Board; (i) has been entered into in
accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transaction; (iii) has not exceeded the caps disclosed in the
relevant announcement made by the Company; and (iv) was in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group if the
transaction involved the provision of goods and services by the

Group.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has reviewed
and confirmed that the above continuing connected transaction
has been entered into by the Group (a) in the ordinary and usual
course of its business; (b) on normal commercial terms; and (c)
in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing the above continuing connected transaction that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a

whole.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the Year set out in note 43 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in the paragraphs headed in note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the

Company were entered into or existed during the Year.
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors and their respective
associates had any interests in a business, apart from the
business of the Group, which competed or may compete with
the business of the Group or had any other conflict of interest
with the Group which would be required to be disclosed under
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets or profits of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or

otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability

insurance coverage for the Directors during the Year.
DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group did not make any donations to
charitable and non-profit-making organisations.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was
formulated by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of
the Directors are decided by the Board, with recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme and Share
Award Scheme as incentives to eligible persons, details are set
out under the sections heading “Share Option Scheme” and

“Share Award Scheme” in this annual report.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata

basis to existing Shareholders.
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MARKET CAPITALISATION

As at 31 March 2022, the market capitalisation of the listed
shares of the Company was approximately HK$2,154 million
based on the total number of 7,559,356,085 issued shares of the
Company and the closing price of HK$0.285 per Share.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, during
the Year, at least 25% of the Company’s issued Shares were
held by the public as required under Rule 8.08 of the Listing

Rules.
MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s turnover and purchases
attributable to major customers and suppliers during the Year

and Previous Year are as follows:
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For the year ended

BEUTHHLEE
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
—EC-CF B —F
=A=t+—H =A=+—H
Percentage of turnover: EEBRADD
From the largest customer REZFAEF 8.6% 8.4%
From the five largest customers in aggregate  RERAAEZF 2 2% 29.1% 23.9%
Percentage of purchase: HEEFER DL -
From the largest supplier RKEZANHEER 25.1% 60.3%
From the five largest suppliers in aggregate RERRMER . EEE 61.3% 72.7%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors who
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
interest in the five largest customers nor suppliers during the

Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

AUDITORS

Following the resignation of BDO Limited as the auditor of the
Company on 29 January 2021, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
("ZHONGHUI ANDA") was appointed as the auditor of the
Company on the same day to fill in the vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in
auditors of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA, whose term of office will
retire at the close of the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the re-appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Fok Chi Tak

Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

—
T e
ZHONGHUI
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HAO TIAN INTERNATIONAL
CONSTRUCTION INVESTMENT GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hao
Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited (the
“"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 90 to 219, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. We have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.

Interests in associates
Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of interests in associates for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of interests in associates of
HK$1,220,000,000 as at 31 March 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;
— Assessing the financial information of the associates;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence; and

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for interests in
associates is supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Corporate note receivables

Refer to note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
The Group tested the amount of corporate note receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of corporate note receivables of
HK$358,000,000 as at 31 March 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits

and credit periods to debtors;

— Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history
with the debtors;

— Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment and

expected credit loss assessment;
— Assessing ageing of the debts;
— Assessing creditworthiness of the debtors and guarantors;
—  Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors; and

— Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit

risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for corporate

note receivables is supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Properties under development
Refer to notes 28 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of properties under development
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of properties under development of
HK$368,000,000 as at 31 March 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based

on assumptions and estimates.
Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the fair value less

costs of disposal calculations;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions

(including unit rate and discount rates);

— Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of

the external valuer engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in

the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation

model to supporting evidence; and
—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for properties

under development is supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Refer to notes 37 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group measured its financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value with the changes in fair value
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss. This fair value
measurement is significant to our audit because the balance of
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss of
HK$629,000,000 as at 31 March 2022 and the fair value loss of
HK$1,000,000 for the year then ended are material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's fair
value measurement involves application of judgement and is

based on assumptions and estimates.
Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of

the external valuer engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in

the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation

model to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model;
and

— Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in

the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's fair value measurement of the
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is supported

by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information in the
Company's annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. The other information is expected to be made

available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially

misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's

website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/

standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P0O5498

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GelEEkEMAZEIRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
—E-F —E -4
Notes HK$'million HK$'million

BI5E ER- BEATT
Revenue WA 7 220 220
Cost of revenue PN (144) (127)
Gross profit EF 76 93
Other income HE U 8 26 15
Other loss, net HaEsE R 9 (385) (20)
Administrative expenses THRAX (58) (59)
Impairment losses: BB - (13) (62)
— property, plant and equipment — W - BB K&E = ©)
— intangible assets —BVEE = (49)
— financial assets —emEEGEEEREER)

(expected credit losses) (13) 7)
Share-based payment expenses MARR 9 32 A~ i 32 7) (10)
Share of results of associates SAK LY iR/ E (17) 169
Share of results of a joint venture DME—HEEREEE 1 27
Finance costs BE AR 10 (29) (44)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBEAT (B518) R R 11 (406) 109
Income tax expense PRSI X 13 (6) )
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(HR),ER (412) 100
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEEEkEMZEIRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-F —E -4
Notes HK$'million HK$'million

{iEsd BEBRT BEET
Other comprehensive (loss)/income BRI EEMWEE (EE), W#F :
after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified to TEeEF S HEEm 2 HE -
profit or loss:
Fair value (loss)/gain on investments NAFEFEBHE LA
in equity instruments at fair value B 2mikas
through other comprehensive (A AFEFFEAEE L
income ("FVTOCI") FAHMEERE] 2
EanTAEREZRATE
(E518) e (16) 1
Items that may be reclassified to AlReEH P EBEm B -
profit or loss:
Share of associates exchange DEEEE A RIRE B INETE
differences on translating EACERZER
foreign operation 11 -
Exchange differences on translating BMEFINEREEZIERZ5
foreign operations (2) -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income  FREM2E (FE) W
for the year, net of tax BrEiE (7) 11
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  FR2E (FiE) WHEAE
for the year (419) 1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GelEEkEMAZEIRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
—E-F —E -4
Notes HK$'million HK$'million

{iEsd BEBRT BEET
(Loss)/profit for the year FBEFER (BER), %57
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ 2 = DN (412) 100
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A - -
(412) 100
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EiEERE2E(EE) WWHEAE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KARHEAR A (419) 1
Non-controlling interests FEVE R M 2 - -
(419) 111
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (E5E) BF 14
Basic (HK$ cents per share) BER (BB (5.54) 1.88
Diluted (HK$ cents per share) s (FREL) (5.54) 1.86
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BN R

As at 31 March 2022 A =2 - —#=F=+—H

2022 2021
—g-= T —F
Notes  HK$'million  HK$'million
B aE BESER BEET
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BWE MEE 16 199 186
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 29 32
Intangible assets B EE 18 5 S
Interests in associates NI 3 19 1,220 1,226
Interests in a joint venture R—EEErEER 20 - 4
Financial assets at FVTOCI WA EEBEHEEA
Ef2ENm emEE 21 42 120
Loan receivables B E X 22 6 63
Finance lease receivables BEHE R KIE 23 2 3
Deferred tax assets RIEIEE E 24 4 5
Pledged bank deposits EHEMARITER 25 - 5
Other receivables and deposits HAb R IE ML 26 10 2
Total non-current assets FREEEHEEE 1,517 1,651
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 78 27 5 88
Properties under development BRAYE 28 368 370
Trade receivables g S el g 29 126 113
Other receivables, deposits and Ef i zTE e &
prepayments T RIA 26 74 21
Financial assets at fair value through A AF{EHE B HEct ABH%
profit or loss (“FVTPL") (TARAFEFEBHZL
AR ZEREE 30 239 308
Loan receivables U E X 22 53 215
Finance lease receivables & E EWERIE 23 4 4
Corporate note receivables B EERE 31 358 =
Trusted and segregated bank accounts {55 MBI IRITERP 25 96 16
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIREEED 25 91 107
Total current assets REBEEARE 1,414 1,242
Total assets EEHEE 2,931 2,893
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e M BARR R

As at 31 March 2022 W =Z=-—F=H=+—H

2022 2021
—g-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$'million HK$'million
B 5 BE®BTT BEBTT
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 12 11
Bank and other borrowings RIT M EMEE 33 410 252
Corporate note payables ERTEERE 34 - 108
Trade payables B 5 N RIE 35 6 4
Other payables, deposits received HipfERZTE - iR e R
and accruals et I8 36 160 40
Income tax payables JERT PRSI 9 10
Total current liabilities BB EALE 597 425
Net current assets REBEEEE 817 817
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBAE 2,334 2,468
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 17 17
Deferred tax liabilities BEBHIEBE 24 24 22
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 33 31 77
Financial liabilities at FVTPL WA EtE BEZ
FFAEmsemasE 37 629 628
Total non-current liabilities kRBEEHEEE 701 744
NET ASSETS EEFEE 1,633 1,724
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BN R

As at 31 March 2022 A =2 - —#=F=+—H

2022 2021
—g-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$'million HK$'million
B 5 BE®BTT BEBTT

EQUITY s
Share capital [ 38 76 67
Reserves B 1,557 1,657
1,633 1,724
Non-controlling interests JEIE IS RS = -
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 1,633 1,724

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 219 were  F0E219B 2 G AU BMEACHEFT SN
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on & — —4 ;X A -+ BIERRETZE - iR

29 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: TIEERREE -
Fok Chi Tak Mak Yiu Tong

Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADARAARSE
Share- Retained
based  Convertible earnings/ Non-
Share Share  payment note Capital ~ FVTOCI ~ Translation accumulated Other controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  reserve reserve losses reserve Total interests equity
NATE
FEAH
2{titA
NRBESA TERRE Afo2m EY REEH/

Bx  REEE  HRER B EREE UEZERE 1 it &3 FEREE  ER4E
Notes  HK§milion ~ HKSmilion  HKS'million  HK§'milion ~ HK$'million HK§'millon ~ HK§'milion HKS'milion ~ HKS'milion ~ HKS'millon  HK$'million  HK$'million
[iFz1 BEST EBET  BEAT  RERT  BERT  AEAT  EEAT  BEEMn BERM  BEAT RERRT BEER

(note 40()) ~ (note 40(i))  (note 40ii) (note 40(v))
(Ristaop)  (Mtaoq)  (Hstaogi) (K 40)
At 1 April 2020 W-E-BEMA-A 44 618 - o % - - 206 1 988 - 988
Total comprehensive income X2 EUREE
for the year - - - - - 1 - 100 - m - m
Transactions with equity holders: EEZHAALS :
Issue of subscription shares RIRRRN 38(a) 6 103 - - - - - - - 109 - 109
Issue of placement shares BIRERD 38b) 3 64 - - - - - - - 61 - 67
Issue of consideration shares 7R ER(A 3(d) 5 168 - - - - - - - 173 - 173
Issue of shares upon conversion 3 AR ARZER 3B(e)
of convertible note payables  %{7Hf 9 02 - (120) - - - - - 191 - 191
Issue of convertiole note WENBRARSAER
payables upon acquisition of AR EHE
a subsidiary - - - 81 - - - - - 81 - 81
Share-based payment expenses  RIAZ B ¥ - - 10 - - - - - - 10 - 10
Eerly principal redemptionof R EEEIE R K
convertiole note payables 2EES
— re-designation of fair —EfEERAREL
value of repurchase ATE
consideration - - - ¢] - - - - - 9] - o
— transfer to retained —BARBEA
eamings - - - (19 - - - 19 - - - -
At 31 March 2021 and R-E--£=f=1-A
1 April 2021 R=E--£MA-A 67 1,25 10 - % il - 325 1 1724 - 1,724
Total comprehensive lossfor ~ £E2AFREE
the year - - - - - (16) 9 (412) - 419 - 419
Disposal of financial assets HENATENERE
at vToCl Sl L 2EREL
SREE - - - - - 4 - 2 - - - -
Transactions with equity holders: EEHHEARS :
Issue of consideration shares BT BRI 3 8 3 - - - - - - - 2 - 2
Issue of award shares BIRBRN 3¢ 1 6 U] - - - - - - - - -
Share-based payment expenses  HR(F S TF% 3 - - 7 - - - - - - 7 - 7
At 31 March 2022 W-B-ZE=A=+-H 76 1,574% 10* = 55+ (7* o (85)* 1* 1,633 - 1,633
Note: 5T

(i) * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of (i) CZEREBEREBRREGAUBRARRNZGAE RS
HK$1,557,000,000 (2021: HK$1,657,000,000) in the consolidated statement 1,557,000,0007# 7T (=% ——4F : 1,657,000,0007T) °
of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HKS$'million  HK$'million
BEAT Er-2: W
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBRENRE
(Loss)/profit before taxation BBiET (E1) % A (406) 109
Adjustments for: HATBBEIELTE -
Amortisation of intangible assets B AESH - 2
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BERREITE
equipment 37 38
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEFRE 10 1
Extinguishment loss on early redemption REBERIEMNTBRERER 2
of convertible note payables BEEE - 13
Fair value losses/(gains): NFEBE/ (W)
— financial assets at FVTPL — AR EAEREZEEA
BaZeMEE 397 (4)
— financial liabilities at FVTPL — AT EEREESEA
BmzemasE 1 12
Finance costs BLE B 29 44
Gain on settlement of other receivables A e R IE 2 s (12) -
Impairment losses on: ATIER ZRIERBE :
— property, plant and equipment —ME - BEKEE = 6
— intangible assets — B EE - 49
— financial assets (expected credit loss) — o REE (FaHEEER) 13 7
Interest earned on corporate note PR EZE R TS
receivables (17) -
Interest earned on bank deposits FLERTTF SRERE 2 F B (1) )
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—HeEhEZEE 1 -
Share-based payment expenses VAR 2 4 P =2 7 10
Share of results of associates ok [oF:/NCIE S 17 (169)
Share of results of a joint venture SME—FRaEREEE (1) (27)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n -\éiﬁﬁ)\}ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—fF
HKS$'million  HK$'million
BEAT Er-2: W
Operating profit before working CIEE B L R
capital changes 75 99
Change in working capital EEETEE
Finance lease receivables &M E R IE 1 1
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFEGTEREHEFEEA
BaRzemEE 94 (4)
Inventories EAy 10 2)
Loans receivables EUWE R 218 78
Other receivables, deposits and Hih s -« e KB
prepayments IE (4) 1
Other payables, deposits received Hib R IE - Edre &
and accruals JEETFIA 103 3
Trade payables 2 5 RIB 2 (14)
Trade receivables B 5 REKIE (22) (52)
Trusted and segregated bank accounts B RBIIRITERR (80) 4
Cash generated from operations REHEIRFTFIRE 397 14
Income tax paid BERFTEH (4) (4)
Net cash generated from operating activities #& % ¥5FT1SIR G /F 58 393 110
Cash flows from investing activities REZDHFERERE
Consideration paid for acquisition of W EER 2 ERE
a corporate note receivable (352) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEEYZ - HE Ma&1E (56) (13)
Acquisition of financial assets at FVTOCI WHEA A FEGEEEZLEA
HihxElms eRMEE (4) -
Interest received B & 13 2
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME  BENEEZPTEHIA
and equipment 13 9
Withdrawal of pledged deposits REMEERTFR 5 -
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HE—RaE X ZMEHRIE 4 -
Net cash used in investing activities BREFHFTARSFEEE (377) 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—fF
HKS$'million  HK$'million
BEAT Er-2: W

Cash flows from financing activities MEEHERERE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ERRITREMEE (220) (93)
Repayment of corporate note payables EEEMNPEER (108) (262)
Interest paid ERFLE (27) (27)
Lease liabilities paid ENEERE (13) (12)
Repayment to a director BE—REFHAE (12) -
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries AR EN )= FNCIE S| (3) -
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings  #$R717 R E B EFTEHIE 331 171
Advance from a director RE—REEZEN 24 -
Advance from fellow subsidiaries RE R R BAR 2 BR = S
Early principal redemption of convertible RPEREMNATBRRERRE

note payables = (70)
Proceeds from issue of placement shares BTSN 2 TS FIE - 67
Net cash used in financing activities METDAAREER (28) (221)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEBY R FE (12) (13)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RENZRERRESEED

of year 107 220
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SN [E R & B2/ £ %50 (4) -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERZRERBEZEY 91 107
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEYZIW
Bank and cash balances RIT IR & AR 91 107
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) is an exempted limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Its immediate and
ultimate holding company is Hao Tian Management
(China) Limited and Asia Link Capital Investment Holdings
Limited, which are incorporated in Hong Kong and the
British Virgin Islands respectively, and the ultimate
controlling shareholder is Ms. Li Shao Yu. The address of
its registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business in Hong Kong is Rooms
2510-2518, 25/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The ordinary shares of the Company
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group include: (i) money lending;
(i) securities investment; (iii) provision of commodities,
futures, securities brokerage and financial services; (iv)
asset management; (v) rental and trading of construction
machinery; (vi) provision of repair and maintenance and

transportation service; and (vii) property development.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") and rounded to the nearest

million (“million”), unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group's accounting policies, presentation
of the Group's financial statements and amounts reported

for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would
have a material impact on its results of operations and

financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

¥

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at FVTOCI, financial assets
at FVTPL and financial liabilities at FVTPL which is carried
at its fair value. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") and rounded to

the nearest million ("million”), unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
of the Company to exercise their judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to these consolidated

financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are

set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity's
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation

reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

¥

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Consolidation (continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the

non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in

the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners

of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of an entity but is not control or joint control over those
policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible, including
potential voting rights held by other entities, are
considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential
voting right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or

convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in

consolidated profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

¥

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Associates (continued)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the

share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (i) the Group's share of the net assets of
that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not

remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or
more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control. Relevant activities are activities that
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When
assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the

arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its
assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its
liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output
arising from the joint operation; its share of the revenue
from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and its
expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly, in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

3.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

¥

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is

recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or
exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the
joint venture subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its
share of the profits equals the share of losses not

recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that
results in a loss of joint control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that joint
venture and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets of that
joint venture plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
joint venture and any related accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve. If an investment in a joint
venture becomes an investment in an associate, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not

remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of joint ventures have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.
Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the group entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HKS, which is the Company’s functional currency and

the Group's presentation currency.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)
(continued)
IR (1)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) REBERUBHERZXEREH

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the
end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised

in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are

determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain

or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the group

entities that have a functional currency different from

the Company's presentation currency are translated

into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the

transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency translation

reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the

translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of

borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency

translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such

exchange differences are recognised in consolidated

profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the

acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing

rate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during

the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their
residual values over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms

Leasehold improvements 10% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures and

office equipment 20% to 25%
Motor vehicles 10% to 25%
Machinery 10%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,

and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line

basis. The principal annual rate is as follows:

Land and buildings
Machinery

Over the lease term
Over the lease term
Motor vehicles Over the lease term
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease
liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000 (approximately equivalent to HK$38,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)

(continued)
Properties under development

Properties for sale under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs include
acquisition costs, prepaid land lease payments,
construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other
direct costs attributable to such properties. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to sale proceeds
received after the reporting period less selling expenses,
or by estimates based on prevailing market condition. On
completion, the properties are reclassified to properties

held for sale at the then carrying amount.
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.
Intangible assets
Customer list

Customer list acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method

to allocate their expected life of 5 years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)
Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
an indefinite useful life and are subsequently carried at

cost less impairment losses.
Securities brokerage licenses

Securities brokerage licenses acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. They have an indefinite useful life and are

subsequently carried at cost less impairment losses.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset
within the timeframe established by the market concerned,
and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost

— Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income; and

— Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade, loan and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(ii)

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading as at fair value through

other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
equity investment revaluation reserve. On
derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains
or losses previously accumulated in the equity
investment revaluation reserve are not reclassified to

profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in
profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a

recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)
(iii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates
an equity investment that is not held for trading as at
fair value through other comprehensive income on

initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and

dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.
Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost and finance
lease receivables. Expected credit losses are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a

default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade receivables or if the credit risk on that financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial

recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses that represents the expected credit losses
that result from default events on that financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting

period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an

impairment gain or loss.
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also

included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set

out below.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)
(continued)
Borrowings R

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting

period.
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded

at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under
business combinations) are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in

profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised product or service exceeds one
year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a

significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over

time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes

the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is

created or enhanced; or

— the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when

the customer obtains control of the product or service.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis

using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
(b) Pension obligations (continued)

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme organised by the government in
the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specific percentage of the payroll of its employees to
the retirement scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the retirement scheme.
No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees. Equity-settled share-
based payments are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect

of non market-based vesting conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining

a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be

received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them

with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
deducted from the carrying amount of the assets. The
grant is recognised in profit or loss over the life of a
depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation

charge.
Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax
credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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¥

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the
purpose of allocating resources and assessing the

performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

0]

(iii)

(Vi)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is

a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring

employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant

influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)

(continued)
Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not
yet available for use are reviewed annually for impairment
and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount

may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and other intangible
assets except goodwill, deferred tax assets, inventories
and receivables to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of cash-

generating units (“CGU") to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the

risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation decrease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss

is treated as a revaluation increase.
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHBER(E)

(continued)
Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting

events are disclosed in the notes when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in

the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Accounted for 49% equity interest in Kingdom
Future Limited (“Kingdom Future”) as fair value
through profit or loss

The Group and the controlling shareholder of
Kingdom Future hold 49% and 51% equity interest of
Kingdom Future respectively. The Group is not
entitle to appoint director of Kingdom Future and is
not able to vote against the controlling shareholder
of Kingdom Future. Hence, the directors of the
Company considered that the Group has no
significant influence over Kingdom Future and it is
more appropriate to account for Kingdom Future as

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATION (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.

(a)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and investments accounted for
using equity method

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are tested
annually for impairment; or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on the higher of value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs of disposal. These
calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is required in the
area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate that
the related asset values may not be recoverable; (ii)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset
in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow
projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment, including the discount rates
or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group's financial condition and results of
operations.
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4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group estimates the allowances for expected
credit loss for its trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loan receivables, corporate note
receivables and other receivables. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements which are based on
the Group's historical credit loss experience,
possibility of default adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic conditions
at the end of reporting period. Where the estimation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will affect the carrying amounts of the financial assets
and will affect the result of allowance for loss

recognised and results of operations.
Fair value of other financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities at
FVTPL were determined by using various valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select
a variety of methods and make assumptions,
including the discount rates, which are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in assumptions used
could materially affect the fair value of these balances
and as a result affect the Group's financial condition

and results of operation.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATION (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The
Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have

been abandoned or sold.

Allowance for properties under development

The management estimates the net realisable value
for properties under development. Significant
judgement is required by the management in
determining the prices at which the properties will be
sold.

Measurement of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities

The Group estimated the right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities based on the terms of the rental
agreements and the Group's incremental borrowing
rate. Estimates are required in determining the

Group's incremental borrowing rate.
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, price risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential

adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.
(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the
functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK 5. ¢RRELARREE(E)
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Price risk (b) EREERS
The Group's investments at fair value through profit REBRAFEFABRZRE MR
or loss and equity investments at fair value through ANPEFAEMZEKG 2 RAKRE
other comprehensive income are measured at fair & %ﬁiHHXT§Q$@a+E o FEt
value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, REFEBEAZRAFLHERER -2
the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. EEBHEFEETRRRMRRCIEE
The directors manage this exposure by maintaining a HEBE LR -

portfolio of investments with difference risk profiles.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined Tl SURE 53 AT TH AR IR R AR
based on the exposure to listed equity securities Rz ETMBRAEBELFEERBRET - &
price risks at the end of the reporting period. The RESMERFZEUAFEFELE
sensitivity analysis included those financial assets at Pl ABR eREERNATE
FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI. If the prices of SAERHESHAREMEARREZE
the respective equity investment included in financial BEE - Mzt A\AATFEFEEHF
assets at FVTPL had been 10% higher/lower, bt AN BERZERMEEZ ERAKRE
assuming all other variables were held constant, the ZTEWL?F/—F PE10% @ REBFTE E
impact to the Group would be as follows: thEERFLE  AHAEEZZE
AT
2022 2021
B —FT-—F

HK$'million HK$'million
HEBT BEAETT

Impact on (loss)/profit after tax ;TB{—TR{% (BR),/ mizw e
Financial assets at fair value ANFEFEAHEEE
through profit or loss §+AT§§ (TARTE
("FVTPL") SFEHEZ(EEA +10% 7 -
Baml)zemEE -10% (7) -

Impact on FVTOCI reserve HUAAFEFEBHEZ
FAEMEERE
1.:%1%25/’
Financial assets at FVTOCI NEEFERAEE(
.ﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ”ﬁl 5.7 +10% 4 12
TREE -10% (4) (12)
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK 5. eRMREFAMBER(E)
MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk () FIEEps
The Group's certain bank deposits and borrowings REBOE TRITERLEENEE
bear interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are MEFHE - BtEE A ERERR -

subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from AEEEG A ERRKREHETHE
its bank deposits and bank borrowings. These RRRITEE - ZEFALEENE
deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable RFERITIRZ F BN EGHE ©
rates varied with the then prevailing market
condition.
The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates the effect Ttz GRRE DR RER A E A
of the interest differences by a 0.5% change on BERBIE  FTEEBEURRBITR
floating-rate borrowings and bank and pledged EHERGEREEHOSHHEFNEER
deposits, assuming all other variables were held Z.
constant.
Carrying amount Impact on post-tax loss
BREE HEEBR®
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EZ-f —E-—%F ZBZZfF —T-—F
HK$'million  HK$'million HK$'million  HK$'million
BEAET BEAT BEAER BEAET
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE (54) (82) - -
Bank and pledged deposits 77 R 2K ER - 5 - -
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK 5.
MANAGEMENT (continued)

ERREXRRERE(E)

(d) Credit risk (d) EERE

The carrying amount of the trade and other
receivables, loan receivables, finance lease
receivables, corporate note receivables, deposits and
bank balances included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation

to the Group's financial assets.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has concentration of
credit risk in respect of its loan receivables and

AT IR EKRAZE 5 KA
YRR - EIRE R - EHERW
A BREERE R RIRTTE
%Zﬁﬁﬁﬁ%$%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi§§ﬁ

EunE}jH’lﬁ :fﬁ

RZFE-_—_F=ZA=1t—H £KH
MEEKER N EEDCERERERRE

corporate note receivables. The number of EEPER - ZEFERWRIBEZRSY
counterparties from these receivables are as follows: FEEWOT :
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
Loan receivables FEWE K 7 43
Corporate note receivables JEW (B RIR 1 -

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made

to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings

assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The credit risk on investments is limited because the
counterparty is a well-established securities broker

firm in Hong Kong.

AEBEAMEBRRERAABHEE
SEERENEFHEEM °

HRXZXZEFHRBBEREEF R
BIERSEENANRT AR
RITHEBHNEERRBAR -

HRXZEFR— F‘ﬁéf‘ﬁﬁﬁ?m%%

EHERT WBEBARENEER
BAR -
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5.

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK

MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following information is

used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change

to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the

operating results of the borrower;

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit

enhancements; and

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of

borrower.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is
when the counterparty fails to make contractual

payments within 90 days of when they fall due.
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK 5.
MANAGEMENT (continued)

ERREXRRERE(E)

(d) Credit risk (continued) (d)y =EREg(E

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group. The Group normally categorises a receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 365 days past due. Where
receivables have been written off, the Group, if
practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the

receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for

each category and adjusts for forward looking data.

EREBENGERRPEEWE (FI201E
AR B BIE AR AT E)) Rl
3 o BEBARGENEH 365 BI& Y
BHONR AEEBESMIEARE
SRR MR IR © fin B 3R WK IR AR
MEE - RIAREE(RERAITTRAEE
PERAANBERT) BERBGR BT
B B @ 2 B e R

AEBIERMEE 2 RYGRIERR
R ZEREFEZ FEERBRERE
BRHEBEEERE TN - RFTEE
HEEBREXE AEEZEZER
ZESLEEE - WA SR ED

-

Category Definition Loss provision

Ebel) & EiERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
JE#) 1R 40 mL B N = 1< kR 1218 A e B s 18
Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk Lifetime expected losses
FREL (SR T HITEHE IR
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current

and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it

maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash

flows, of the Group's financial liabilities is as follows:

5. ERNEFARERE(E)

(e)

REES @R

AEE Y BR AT HERNSRES
IRBESER  NRREBTRE
SHRBERENREEN Y ABE
STK -

ARELBAERAERRSHES
D2 BMHFTMT :

Between Total
Less than 1yearto  Between2 Over undiscounted
1 year 2years  to5years S5years  cash flows
AERRE
PR E 1622F 2FZE5F LE RERHE
HK$'million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-—F
=ZA=+-H BEETL BEETL BEERL BEETL BEETL
Trade payables AN 6 - - - 6
Other payables, deposits HiENFIE - 2I
received and accruals Be RIEFTE 158 - - - 158
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE
and corresponding interests A SR ABEF S 413 18 14 - 445
Lease liabilities MHERE 13 10 8 - 31
590 28 22 - 640
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK 5. ¢RRELARREE(E)
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) MBEELEM (E)
Between Total
Less than 1yearto Between 2 Over undiscounted
1 year 2 years to 5 years 5years cash flows

AURBRL
DPR1E 18225 2ERSE S5F+ MEBTE
HK$'million  HK$'million  HK§'million  HK§'million  HK$'million

As at 31 March 2021 RZZ=-%
=A=1+-H BEAT BEET BEAET BEETL BEAT

Trade payables BHENTR 4 - - - 4
Other payables, deposits HiEMTR - BIK

received and accruals e R IERTE 39 - - - 39
Bank and other borrowings BOREMEE

and corresponding interests A RARMEF 8 267 56 24 - 347
Corporate note payablesand ~ JEf (M EZHE I

corresponding interests HEFE 116 - - - 16
Lease liabilities HERE 12 8 10 - 30

438 64 34 - 536
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

5. ERNEFARERE(E)

(f) Categories of financial instruments at ) R=A=+—Hze@mIAEH
31 March
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEAT BEETT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTOCI AR EFEBEZ(EEA
Hiv2EWE 2 REE 42 120
Financial assets at FVTPL AR EFEBEZ(LEA
BRemEE
Mandatorily measured st & 239 308
Financial assets at amortised cost REHE AR e REE
Loan receivables FEWE R 59 278
Finance lease receivables RhE T & e U s s 6 7
Corporate note receivables R ¥ = 358 -
Cash and cash equivalents and HehIReFEMUAK
pledged bank deposits B RRITFR 187 128
Trade receivables H 5 W IA 126 13
Other receivables and deposits E b e A MR E 74 21
1,091 975
Financial liabilities cRIEE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL AT ER=EBHB
FFABRzEmAEE 629 628
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ I&# R AFIBE 2 £ R B E
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE 441 329
Corporate note payables ENPERE - 108
Trade payables B S ENFIE 6 4
Other payables and accruals E b A M ERTE A 158 39
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 28
1,263 1,136
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the
consolidated statement of financial position

approximate their respective fair values.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a
fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the

inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can

access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

ERREXRRERE(E)

(99 A¥E

RERE FFHIR I R R R 2 K5 B & Bt
BEMGRABRZEEEREESE
FEMRE -

YN

R

AREIE

AFERRHEATHERENGRAR S
PG EET DS RAEAL 2 E
% o AT AT BREHRALFER
# - WREEEABES A= EEEERR
REEATE

£1REARIE  AREAR B ABR
REES R ENE BTS2 B (REH

) -
F2MB AR RAERAETEERM
ERRRENRE B2 REZ 2 H AR
-

FIRBABE  EELRBEZIAEER
ABIE -

AEBZBRRENSIEEB 2 EFHBERE
b3 2 AEREM = AR 2 BASE L -
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. DAFVEFE(E)
(a) Disclosure of level in fair value hierarchy: (a) ATFEEBSZHREE
Description X

Fair value measurements using:

NPEAEER:
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-=—H=A=+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1R $F2 $E3R ‘st
HK$'million  HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BBET  BEER BEER BEART
Assets EE
Recurring fair value measurements: &N FETE
Financial assets at fair value WATEFEAHEL
through profit or loss ARG EREE
— Listed securities — L3
— Unlisted fund investment —¥LmEERE
— Unlisted debt instruments —FLmEKIA
— Convertible note receivable — AR R
Financial assets at fair value WATEFEAHEY
through other TARMEERG 2
comprehensive income TREE
— Listed securities — EmES
Total recurring fair value EEMAPESEASE
measurements
Liabilities a8
Recurring fair value measurements: & E 4 AT EFE :
Financial liabilities at FVTPL NAFEGE ARSI
TABRZEHEE
— Corporate note payable —ENGCEZE
Total recurring fair value KEEATEAEAR

measurements
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. DAFVEFE(E)
(a) Disclosure of level in fair value hierarchy: (a) AFEEBEREE: (B)
(continued)
Description (continued) A (E)
Fair value measurements using:
AVEFEER
As at 31 March 2021 R-B=--£=H=1+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1H 28 H3IR @t
HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million
BEATL BEBT BEAT BEAT
Recurring fair value measurements: & EHATE 2
Financial assets at fair value WATEFEREEY
through profit or loss ATABRZSRERE
— Unlisted fund investment —EFMESRE - 293 - 293
— Unlisted debt instruments —FLmEBIA - - 15 15
Financial assets at fair value NFEFEAEE L
through other uﬁ\ﬁi\ﬂﬂiﬁlﬁl A
comprehensive income TREE
— Listed equity securities — FHRAES 120 - - 120
Total recurring fair value BEMAFENEAR
measurements 120 293 15 428
Liabilities afE
Recurring fair value measurements: & &£ AT {ExH 2 ¢
Financial liabilities at FVTPL WATEFEREEY
AABRZEREAE
— Corporate note payable —ERLERE - - 628 628
Total recurring fair value BEMATENELAE
measurements - - 628 628
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6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6.

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair

(b) ERFEIRRATEHABZEEY

value based on level 3: B :
Financial Financial
assets liabilities
at FVTPL at FVTPL
DAFEFE UATESE
BHEHZ BHEHZt
ARz FABR®Z
TREE TRAaE
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEER HEERT
As at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H 15 (628)
Acquisitions or additions WEESURNE 357 -
Total gains or losses recognised EERW R EHEET
— in profit or loss* — REm (263) (1
Exchange alignment DEE 3, 8 B (2) -
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZZBEZ_F=A=+—H 107 (629)
* Include gains or losses for assets  * BIERBEHRRMIFTHEE
held at end of reporting period 2B (263) (1
Financial Financial
assets liabilities
at FVTPL at FVTPL
ANERTE ARATERE
BEZME BHEZ(
;#7\?5 57 AT AB@mZ
TREE TRBE
HK$'mi|Iion HKS$'million
BEET BEET
1 April 2020 —E-TEMA—H 12 -
Acquisitions or additions WA E - (616)
Total gains or losses recognised BRI E B ERRE
— in profit or loss* — R 3 (12)
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 15 (628)
* Include gains or losses for assets ~ * BIERBEHARMIFEELEE
held at end of reporting period P 3 (12)

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss NIB%

including those for assets/liabilities held at end of

reporting period are presented in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. AFEFTE(E)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the () BEAKEREAZHERFUR
Group and valuation techniques and inputs R EFEFRER Z GERIT RS
used in fair value measurements: ABHE
The Group’s management is responsible for the fair REBZEEBEENERRMAE
value measurements of assets and liabilities required HHEERBEATETE  BIEE3
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair MATEAE EREEEMNEES
value measurements. The management reports ERZELTEAS -EREHES
directly to the board of directors for these fair value EEFELETRAEBMGEEBRER
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes EREVF R
and results are held between the management and
the board of directors at least twice a year.
For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will MEIBAFETFZEMS - ARERE
normally engage external valuation experts with the BeREARERNEEERARN
recognised professional qualifications and recent BRI EREREITHE -
experience to perform the valuations.
Level 2 fair value measurements FE2R N FETE
Description Valuation technique Inputs Fair Value
R fhER BARE NY¥E
2022 2021
ZBEIZE T -F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEER BBATL
Financial assets at FVTPL
WATEFEREE
AR EREE
— Unlisted fund investment Asset-based approach Net assets 44 293
—FLTERRE BEEWE EEFE
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6.

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

As at 31 March 2022

DNFETE(E)

(c) BEAKEREAZGEERTFUAR
DHEFEMERZEERN RS
ABE: (8)

EIRAFHEE

RZF-——F=H=4+—H

Unobservable Effect on fair value for
Description Valuation technique inputs Range increase of key input Fair value
FAEE EmEREANE
iR RER G BARE #E HATEZFE DYE
HK$'million
BEET
Financial assets at FVTPL
WA TEEE AR
STABRCEREE
— Unlisted debt instruments Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 11.50% Decrease 20
—¥ImEHIA hEFLRE B X D
— Unlisted fund investment Asset approach Marketability 15.8% Decrease 59
discount
—¥IrmEERE BE% [ikiEleEir WD
Minority discount 23.8% Decrease
DB E D
— Convertible note receivables  Binomial model Discount rate 9.49% Decrease 28
— RRAARRE ZIEAES BRE WD
volatility 121.48% Increase
L] 10
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
A THEEE AR
SAAERCERER
— Corporate note payable Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 8.7%-9.8% Decrease 629
—EREEER WhEELRE BRX D
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

As at 31 March 2021

Unobservable

DREFTE(E)

() WEAEEFERAZHERFUR
AR EFFERERAZHERTRE
AEE - (B)
FEIRAFHEGE(BE)
R-ZE-_—F=HA=1+—H

Effect on fair value for

Description Valuation technique inputs Range increase of key input Fair value
TAEE ENEREABE
KR fEE RN BARR BE HATEYE RYHE
HK$'million
BEABT
Financial assets at FVTPL
IATEFE R
FABEZEHAE
— Unlisted debt instruments Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 11.50% Decrease 15
—EHEKIA HRBERE BB % D
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
WATEHERER(
ARG ERER
— Corporate note payable Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 9.4%-9.8% Decrease 628

—EREERE

HHALRE

BB %

During the two years, there were no changes in the

valuation techniques used.

i

RzmEFE  PrAGERmLEE
) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Description of segments and principal
activities

The Group has identified five (2021: five) reportable
segments of its business:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Rental and sale of construction machinery and
spare parts business: The Group offers crawler
cranes of different sizes, other mobile cranes,
aerial platforms and foundation equipment in
its construction machinery rental fleet in Hong
Kong. The Group also sells construction
machinery and spare parts in Hong Kong and
Macau.

Provision of repair and maintenance and
transportation service business: The Group
provides repair and maintenance service for
construction machinery, in particular the crawler
cranes, in Hong Kong. The Group also provides
transportation services which include local
container delivery, construction site delivery
and heavy machinery transport in Hong Kong.

Money lending business: The Group holds
money lending licenses and offers mortgaged
loan and personal loan businesses in Hong
Kong.

Provision of asset management, securities
brokerage, commodities, futures and other
financial service business: The Group holds
Securities and Future Commission licenses for
conducting type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2
(dealing in futures contracts), type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and provides a wide range
of financial services in Hong Kong.

Property development business: The Group
started the property development business
during the Year. The Group holds properties
under development in Malaysia through a
subsidiary and in Cambodia through an
associate.
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Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® 2 KB ERIEEEBERAR]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##E— T -4 =A=+—HI-5E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARSBER(E)
(continued)

(b) Segment profit or loss (b) ZEiEZH
The segment profit or loss for the reportable BT __FRIZB-Z—F=H
segments provided to the chief operating decision =T BUEFE BHTEI2LER
maker and reconciliation to loss before taxation for BRABBAI2®n 2z a1z Mk
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as HATEIBYRMT ¢
follows:
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with DMEHEEREREREIRERT
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to BRZE=FEHIHENEBEST -
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
2022
—EC-CE
Provision
of asset
management,
Rental and  Provision of securities
sale of repair and brokerage,
construction  maintenance commodities,
machinery and futures and
and spare transportation Money  other financial Property
parts service lending services  development Total
RUEEER
BEMARR  REEER BELL -
il REUR [
HERBEE BRRY HE REfERES NEBR @zt

HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million
BEART BEART BEART BEART BEART BEART

Segment revenue 2HBA

External revenue SMRIEA

Segment results before the MBUTEIER 2
following items: DEEE

— Depreciation and amortisation  — ?’T%&%é}

— Impairment losses: —REER:
— financial assets —ERAE

(expected credit losses) (BEEEER)

— Finance costs —RERK

Segment results PHEE

Unallocated: RORE:

— Other income —EfRA

— Other losses, net —EEREE

— Administrative expenses —1BR%

— Impairment losses: —REEE:
—financial assets —tRAE

(expected credit losses) (BBEERR)

— Share-based payment expenses — Mﬂi AL

— Share of results of associates PEERAEE

— Share of results of a joint venture — 5} E-RAELEREE

— Finance costs —RERK

Loss before taxation BHAIER
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARSBER(E)
(continued)
(b) Segment profit or loss (continued) (b) o\ (E)
2021
—Z--F
Provision
of asset
management,
Rental and Provision of securities
sale of repair and brokerage,
construction maintenance commodities,
machinery and futures and
and spare  transportation Money  other financial Property
parts service lending services  development Total
REEEER
BEER R RIEEER FAE
BRZH RENR B BER
BEREE Bk HE  HEtemRE NEER &t
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEAT BEET BEET BEET BEAT
Segment revenue 2HBA
External revenue SMRIA 4 8 60 11 - 220
Segment results before the MR TRIERZ
following items: DEEE 48 4 3% 2 - 0
— Depreciation and amortisation ~— & R &3 (39) - - (1) - (40)
— Impairment losses: —HERE
— property, plant and equipment  — #1% + i Rk {E - - - (1 - ()
— intangible assets —BVAE - - - (49) - (49)
— financial assets —SREE
(expected credit losses) (BHEEER) 4 - 7 2 - 8]
— Finance costs —BERK 3 - 3 - - ()
Segment results NHEE 10 4 2% (1) - (1)
Unallocated: RO
— Other income — E g A 4
— Other losses, net — At EEFE ()
— Administrative expenses —IBA% 21)
— Impairment losses: —REER:
— Financial assets —SRAE
(expected credit losses) (BHEERE) @
— Share-based payment expenses — ARk {7 RIS (10
—Share of results of associates ~ — P{EEE DA EE 169
— Share of results of a joint venture — A —fA 254 7
— Finance costs —RERL (38)
Profit before taxation BRBATER 109

No segment assets and liabilities are presented as

the chief operating decision maker does not regularly

review segment assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Geographical information

The geographical information about the Group's
revenue from external customers by location of
operations and the non-current assets other than

financial instruments and deferred tax assets in which

7. BWARSBERGE)

(c)

h & &

BRAAKEBIMNBEPAFEA (RE
BB D) ALGERBDEE(ERT
AN RIRERIREE (BEBERAT
) 2R BRI T

the assets are physically located is detailed below:

Revenue Non-current assets (note)
O FRBEE (ML)
For the year ended 31 March As at 31 March
BE=A=t—-HLEFE HW=RA=+—8H
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EB-CF “E-—F —EB-C=F —E-—F
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BE#ETR BEAT BEETT AEAET
Hong Kong 5% 219 218 241 224
The People’s Republic  ##E A R L FE
of China (the “PRC")  ([#E1]) - - 93 113
Macau A 1 2 = -
Cambodia R - - 1,127 1,116
220 220 1,461 1,453
Note: I

Non-current assets excluded financial assets at FVTOCI, loan
receivables, financial lease receivables, deferred tax assets,
pledged bank deposits and financial assets included in other
receivables and deposits.

Information about major customers

There is no external customers over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group.

(d)

FERBEETBREALNTFEFEREZ AR
EERE EMmEE  BEER BEHER
WORR R IRE E - CHERRITESUA KRG
AEMRURARREZ SREE °

BAREREFZEHR

1940 7 S AR A B 10% 2 5128
BF -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDHER ()
(continued)

(e) Revenue summary (e) WABE

2022 2021
S5
HK$'million HK$'million
BE®BTT BEBTT

Revenue from contracts with BEF A ZWA () -
customers (note):
— Sale of construction machinery — BREMR N ERTHEE
and spare parts 49 4
— Repair and maintenance and — BERREURERRBEBA
transportation service income 10 8
— Commission income generated — BETI EBAELL  EH -
from asset management, HE RE M mRS
securities brokerage, EEZHARIA
commodities, futures and
other financial services 9 7
68 56
Revenue from other sources: E AR 2 WA
— Rental income generated from — BEEMEE 2 HSBA
construction machinery 128 100
— Interest income generated from — WEEEZFIEWA
money lending 17 60
— Interest income generated from —FEREEEZFBRA
margin financing 7 4
152 164
220 220
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##E— T -4 =A=+—HI-5E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARSBER(E)
(continued)

(e) Revenue summary (continued) (e) WABE(E)
Note: B 5T
Disaggregated revenue from contract with customers DHFEFEHMA
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE-_Z-_—_F-A=+—RIEFE

Provision of asset

Provision of management,
repair and securities
Sale of maintenance brokerage,
construction and commodities,
machinery and transportation  futures and other
spare parts service financial services Total
REH{EEEEE -
RELBR BHERR
BERMK REUR B HER
FREGHE EWRK Hit S RRY a5t
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
HEER BEAR BEERT BEART

Sale of construction machinery and BEERRERTHEE

spare parts

Repair and maintenance and HERREAREHRBEA
transportation service income

Commission income generated from BEEE BHLE BEL-
asset management, securities brokerage, 1% & E 4 &R
commodities, futures and EEZRERA

other financial services

Timing of revenue recognition WA R
At a point in time RE-KREE
Overtime KER

Total 5t
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(e)

Revenue summary (continued)

Note: (continued)

7.

(e)

Disaggregated revenue from contract with customers

(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Sale of
construction
machinery and

WA RS EER (E)

LON 26
firsE ()

DHEEFERUA (F)

HE-T-—F=-RA=+—HILFE

Provision of asset

management,

securities

Provision of repair brokerage,
and maintenance commodities,

and transportation  futures and other

spare parts service  financial services Total
REEEER -
REHER FERELRE
BERMR REAR A HER
HRAZHEE ERRY Eth 2 RRS @t
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEAT BEET BEET BEAT
Sale of construction machinery and EEEMRERTHEE
spare parts 41 - - 41
Repair and maintenance and BERRERAREBRBERA
transportation service income - 8 - 8
Commission income generated from BEEE JFAEL Bm-
asset management, securities brokerage, H1& J K04 BIRH
commodities, futures and EE7RBERA
other financial services - - 7 7
41 8 7 56
Timing of revenue recognition W\ HERR RS
At a point in time RE—BRZ 4 - 7 48
Over time ERs - 8 - 8
Total w5t 41 8 7 56
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OTHER INCOME 8. HftlA
2022 2021
—EgE--F —ZE-—4F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEAT
Interest earned on: AT S IEBRE 2 FE. -
— corporate note receivables — R ERE 17 -
— bank deposits — RITERX 1 2
Government grant eGSR - 6
Rental income MW A 3 2
Others Hit 5 S
26 15
OTHER LOSS, NET 9. HtEEFHE
2022 2021
—E--fF @ —ZE-—F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEAT
Fair value (losses)/gains on: AT&BEZ ATEEER), s
— financial assets at FVTPL — UAFEFEAHE L
FABRCESREE (397) 4
— financial liabilities at FVTPL — UAFEFEAHEZ L
FFABRZzEmAE (1) (12)
Gain on settlement of other receivables  # & H b fEUN 718 7 W 25
(note 26) (P 5 26) 12 -
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—HaEhtE S (1) -
Extinguishment loss on early principal IRR B O EN IR ERE A S
redemption of convertible note 2 BEEE
payables = (13)
Foreign exchange gain DEE 3 W 2 2 1
(385) (20)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

11.

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. ME KA
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HKS$'million  HK$'million
BEART A&8ETT
Interest expenses arising from: NTRIEZHMERX
— bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE 17 15
— corporate note payables — EREER 9 3
— convertible note payables — AT RRE R = 25
— lease liabilities —MHERE 1 1
Exchange difference on borrowings BEZERZR 2 -
29 44
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 1. BRBIAT (BE),EF
This is stated at after charging the followings: BETH AR T 2B IBIR IR -
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BERTRT BEBTT
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH - 2
Auditor’s remuneration ZHEN N & 1 1
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAR 44 32
Depreciation of: & -
— property, plant and equipment — W% - BEREE 37 38
— right-of-use assets — EREEE 10 11
Staff costs BINAN(BREEZESEHM)
(including directors’ remuneration):
— salaries, bonuses and allowances — #Fe - (BAL R, 62 56
— retirement benefit scheme — R ET B
contributions 2 2
— share-based payments — AR X AN KB 7 10
71 68
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##E— T -4 =A=+—HI-5E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’ 12. EBERITHABZHMERER
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS

The emoluments of each director were as follows: FEEEZMeT
(a) The emoluments of each director are as (a) BHEEZ=ZBMEWT :
follows:
2022
—E-CE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind  contributions payments Total
e 2R BIRER R
e ENER HE L ZHARE @t

Notes HK$'million HKS$'million HKS$'million HK$'million HKS$'million
Mzt BERR BEET BEER BEBT BEET

Executive directors YrES

Fok Chi Tak EFE

Tang Yiu Chi James Hige

Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. BEREL ATHL

Zheng Li g (i

Non-executive directors ~ EHTEE
Xu'Lin i3 (il
Wei Bin B, (i)

Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors
Lee Chi Hwa, Joshua FRE (ii)
Mak Yiu Tong ERE
Li Chi Keung Elliot THB
Shek Lai Him Abraham Rk (i)
Chan Ming Sun Jonathan ~ [R$44 ()

Total @
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e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 12. EERTHRABBZMERER ()
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (continued)

(@) The emoluments of each director are as (a) BEZzZzMSUT : (8&)

follows: (continued)

2021
—E--F
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind  contributions payments Total
e EHR RINER il
ik ENEH B ATHE #:t

Notes HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
Mzt BEAT BEAT BEBT BEAT BEBT

Executive directors HTES

Fok Chi Tak EiE - 24 - 42 66

Tang Yiu Chi James E - 13 - - 13

Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. BEREL ATHL - - - - -

Zheng Li [z (i) - 13 - - 13
- 50 - 4.2 9.2

Non-executive directors ¥ {TES

Xu Lin Fisi (ii) - 0.2 - 0.7 09

Wei Bin vy (ii) - 0.2 - 0.7 09
- 04 - 14 18

Independent non-executive BIFHTES

directors

Lee Chi Hwa, Joshua ey (i) 0.1 - - - 0.1

Mak Yiu Tong Bz 0.1 - - - 0.1

Li Chi Keung Elliot FEH 0.1 - - - 0.1

Shek Lai Him Abraham hEF (iv) - - - - -

03 - - - 0.3
Total st 03 54 - 56 13
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (continued)

(b)

12. EERTHRAR M RERN (B)

(@) The emoluments of each director are as (a) BEZzMSWT : (8&)
follows: (continued)
Notes: LiEsd
(i) Zheng Li has resigned as an executive director on 21 July 0} BEER T _—FEA-+—HFHEH
2021. TE=Z -
(i) Xu Lin and Wei Bin were appointed as a non-executive (ii) FMEBEER T _SF+ A NBEZT
director of the Company on 6 October 2020. RARBERTESE -
(i) Lee Chi Hwa Joshua has resigned as an independent non- iy FEEER-_T_—FLtATZHEEX
executive director of the Company on 12 July 2021. NEVBYIFPITESE »
(iv)  Shek Lai Him Abraham was appointed as an independent vy FARERN-_Z_ZETATHEREZRER
non-executive director of the Company on 15 October 2020. RRRVEMLIFITES -
(v) Chan Ming Sun Jonathan has been appointed as an v) BRGLER T _—F A+ -_AEEHE
independent non-executive director of the Company on 12 RADBBULIFRITES ©
July 2021.
Five highest paid individuals (b) FMESHEEEHET
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments EREEMesEm AR @ENELTE
in the Group, four (2021: three) was the director of AN BR(ZEZ—F: Z8) BAR
the Company, whose emoluments are included in AIEE - AMe 2 &R M T 12() PR
the disclosure set out in Note 12(a). The emolument BER -BRESIN FBE= @5
of the highest paid individual except directors is as ETE&IT :
follows:
2022 2021
-2 -4
HKS$'million  HK$'million
BEAT A8ETT
Salaries, allowances and benefits e R NEYETR
in kind 1 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HI-FE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 12. EERTHRABBZMERER ()

EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (b) FHMESZHEEEAET (E)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

& T T 5IgEE 2 A

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F

HK$nil-HK$1,000,000 T L E 1,000,000 7% 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 7 7T - 1
1 2

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
of the Company or five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2021: nil). There was
no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).

HEe_Z-_—F#=-A=+—HItFE
AEBUEAARAESKHTHES
ZHAMEBE TS ERMALR
EES AR SRS EEREE (ST
Z—F:E) - BE_T-=_F=H
=+—BLFE BEEEHEXR
ERETAHEHTH(ZTE=—F
;) o

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FRBEBIAX

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$'million HK$'million
BHE®BTT BEBTT

Current income tax BVERPR1S T
— Current year — RFE
— Hong Kong — &5 3 7
— Under-provision in prior years — BAFEREB IR -
3 8
Deferred tax (note 24) EIEFE A (K13E24) 3 1
6 9
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and
the product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the

Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:

13. FiEHmAX ()

PSTLR S BB B AT (B51R), T AR A EE
MW R 2 FREZHRNOT ¢

2022 2021
—_E_-_= —F-—%F

— =

HK$'million  HK$'million
BHEAT BEBT

(Loss)/profit before taxation BrFL AT (E518),a (406) 109
Less: Share of results of associates DR (=0 s /N 17 (169)
Share of results of a joint venture SME—HeEREEE (1) (27)
(390) (87)
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% LI E16.5%TE
(2021: 16.5%) (ZF=—%F 1 165%) (64) (14)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes <A #1745 5% 68 23
Income not subject to tax BERTUA (3) )
Tax loss for which no deferred income RIEREILFTST & 58
tax amount was recognised Z i EE 6 1
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BRI RER Z RIS EE
tax losses (1) -
Under-provision in prior years WEFEREB R - 1
Income tax expense PSR 6 9

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate of 8.25% on
the estimated assessable profit up to HK$2 million and
16.5% on any part of estimated assessable profit over
HK$2 million for both years. Taxation arising in other
jurisdiction are calculated at the rates prevailing in the

relevant jurisdictions.

REEFE - A ERBENTZR2E
BATTME @ BANSHRGLE K 8.25% 5T
B ARTERTEMNEASSBB2E8 8
BRmE - AlR16.5%5 & - Efh Bl AR
PTES 2 BIRIR G R AE R 2 BITH RET

sty
H o
T
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HBI-FE
14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.

(a) Basic (@) ER
Basic (loss)/earnings per share was calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to
the owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

SR (E8) BF

BREAR(BR) BINEARFHESE
AEIEFR(ER),aEFBRAF AR
BITE AR IEFHHEE -

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable ~ ANA RIHEA AEIGEA
to the owners of the Company (E18),/ m M (B 8HBT)
(HK$'million) (412) 100
Weighted average number of BEETE B INET IS
ordinary shares in issue (B&R)
(million shares) 7,437 5,313
Basic (loss)/earnings per share TREA (E18),/BF (B
(HK$ cents) (5.54) 1.88
(b) Diluted (b) #F
Note 2022 2021
Bt e
Adjusted (loss)/profit for the year Fi AR & & 5E
attributable to owners of the (E518),/ BF 2 &N 7]
Company used to determine A AR FRLEAEE
the diluted (loss)/earnings per (E38) % F
share (HK$ million) (B&ETT) (412) 100
Weighted average number of B2 ¥77H A% 2 htEF19#
ordinary shares in issue (B8R
(million shares) (i) 7,437 5,365
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share i EE (E18) &R
(HK$ cents) GBI (5.54) 1.86
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14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 14. B (BR) BF (&)
(b) Diluted (continued) (b) #H(E)
(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 0] REREE (BB, B2 BRINET
purpose of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated as BEEENT
follows:

2022 2021
—E-C —E—F
million shares million shares
BER BER

Weighted average number of ordinary shares BT ESIREAR (EE) BH 2

for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings T A% i 5 8
per share 7,437 5,313
Adjustment for: (& TR IR
— Assumed exercise of share awards — BRI 22D = 52
Weighted average number of St GREE (BR), B2
ordinary shares for the purpose of T m A AN AE S 15 £,
diluted (loss)/eamings per share 7,437 5,365
15. DIVIDENDS 15. KR
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company RBE-_ZT-_F=A=t+—HIFE " K
during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). AEWERNHERRE(ZT-—F : ) -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BEREE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold fixtures and Motor
buildings  improvements equipment vehicles Machinery Total
HETH B %8
RET  HENREE Rk "E #i st

HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEATL BEATL BEATL BEATL BEATL BEATL

Cost

As at 1 April 2020
Additions
Disposal

RAE

R-B-ZEWA-A 2 7 4 8 474 495
FE - 2 - 1 10 13
HE - (1) - (1) (34) (36)

As at 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021
Additions
Transfer from right-of-use assets
Disposal

R-Z-—%=ZF=1+-H
k=Z-—-F#MA—-A

NE

NEREEEEA

HE

As at 31 March 2022

R-E--—&#=f=1-H

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

As at 1 April 2020

Charge for the year

Impairment for the year

Disposal

RiHrERAE

RZEZZTEMA-A 1 2
FRER - 1 1 - 3% 38
FRRE - 5
HE - (1) - (1) (25) (27)

As at 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021
Charge for the year
Transfer from right-of-use assets
Disposal

WZZZ—%=f=1+—H
k=E-—-FMA—-H

FRNEA

RERREEEA

&

As at 31 March 2022

W-E--f=A=1+-H

Carrying amount
As at 31 March 2022

FEE
W-E--f=A=1+-H

As at 31 March 2021

R-Z-—%=ZA=1+-H 1 1 - 1 183 186
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

Non-current assets pledged as security

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$114 million (2021: HK$108) million
was pledged to secure borrowings.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in 2021 as a
result of the deterioration of the markets of the Group's products
and services. These assets are used in the Group's provision of
asset management, securities brokerage, commodities, future and
other financial services segment and certain assets are corporate
assets. The reviews led to the recognition of an impairment loss of
HK$6 million, that has been recognised in profit or loss. The
recoverable amount of the relevant assets of HK$nil has been
determined on the basis of value in use using discounted cash flow
method (level 3 fair value measurements).

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

B3

(ii)

16. M3 - MENRE(GE)

EEMIERBEEF QIR -

RZZEZZF=ZA=+—8 " W%  BEK&E
ZHEEENANABEETL(ZE=—F:10878
EET) BERUEREES -

HRARBEERERBZTHERLRL  BAE
EZEHN-_ZT-—F0NE BERRBRETE
EZAREEE ZEEEARAEE ZRHEE
EEE #5KL B HERACSERE
DE - ETEERAAEE - EHNEHSEEH
ERHEBRcEBAETL  AREBERCNIBEE
R HEEEZA RO SBEATET  EARMA
RenBE(FEZRATENB)REMEEETE

17. HERFERAEEE

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—4F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BE®ET BEAET

Right-of-use assets FERAEEE
— Offices — WAE 13 18
— Warehouses — A& 12 3
— Machinery — 3 10
— Motor vehicles — "8 1 1
29 32
Lease commitments of short-term leases %S EAFA & ~ fH & = IE = 1
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17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. HEREREEE (F)
(continued)
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, FTEBEEEEENAMBRReNE 2 3H
of the Group's lease liabilities is as follows: BRITMT
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEAERT BEET
— Less than 1 year — —FNR 13 12
— Between 1 and 2 years — —EMEF 10 8
— Between 2 and 5 years —MERF 8 10
31 30

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {# & EHTER

— Offices —WRE 5 b
— Warehouses —RE 4 3
— Machinery — A = 1
— Motor vehicles —)’RE 1 1

10 I
Lease interests HEFE 1 1
Expenses related to short-term leases B A SRR 2 BT 2 2
Total cash outflow for leases FRAHE R RE AR 16 15
Additions to right-of-use assets NECRAEEE 14 -
The Group leases various offices, warehouses, machinery AEBHASERAT  BE - #iW AR
and motor vehicles. Lease agreements are typically made HE-HERERE-—FELF(ZZT_—
for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years (2021: 1 to 5 years). Lease Fr—FE2RF)ZBEERBPEIL - HEK
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a FRBERNEAES - RSB IEZER
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease Rt - HEMER T EmMNETAEEEE - AR
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased HEBENMSAIEEEERM -

assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Securities
Customer brokerage
Goodwill list licenses Total
HE EFBE BELRER @t
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Note (a) Note (b)
B3t ) i (b)
Cost B
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZE-ZEWMA—8-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 “E--F=A=1+—-H"
ZTT-5MA-BR
“E--F=A=1+—H 46 12 5 63
Accumulated amortisation R EERAE
and impairment
As at 1 April 2020 RZZZTMA-H 4 3 - 7
Charge for the year FRNER - 2 - 2
Impairment for the year FRRE 42 7 - 49
As at 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and  R=E-—F=ZA=+—H"
31 March 2022 “EC-ENA-HRK
—E--FZR=1-H 46 12 - 58
Carrying amount HREE
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-Z§=A=1+—H - - 5 5
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-—%#=A=+—H - - 5 5
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For the yea

rended 31 March 2022 &= —ZE——4=A=+—HIFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Brand name and customer list

The amount arose on the acquisitions of Hao Tian International
Financial Holdings Limited (“HTIFH") in December 2018. The
recoverable amount of HTIFH has been determined based on a
value in use calculation.

The Group carried out review of the recoverable amount of its
intangible assets in 2021 as a result of the deterioration of the
markets of the Group's products and services. These assets are
used in HTIFH. The review led to the recognition of an impairment
loss of HK$42 million and 7 million for goodwill and customer list
respectively that have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The recoverable amounts of the relevant
assets of HK$nil were determined on the basis of their value-in-use
using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period with a discount rate of 17%. Cash flow after the five-
year period are extrapolated at 3% growth rate. Another key
assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted revenue
and gross margin, which is determined based on the unit's past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

Securities brokerage licenses

The amount arose on the acquisitions of HTIFH in December 2018.
The recoverable amount of HTIFH has been determined based on
fair value less cost of disposal using market approach (level 3 fair
value measurements).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

19. RBFE QT 2R

2022 2021
—E-= —T—F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEET
Unlisted investments: JELETIRE -
Share of net assets DB EFE 1,220 1,226
Notes CEX
(@) Associates material to the Group (@) UHAEEMSBEA Y S AT
(i) Set out below are the associates which, in the opinion of the 0} Tx#HNEER AR T -_—&=H1

directors, are material to the Group as at 31 March 2022.

These associates are accounted for in the consolidated

financial statements using the equity method. The

summarised financial information presented is based on the

HKFRS financial statements of the associates.

Place of % of ownership

=t -BERAKREMEEERZBER
B o ZEMEDRARRENG A PBR
RN - A2 E R YA B 2
RREZ B BHBMEERNTTERE -

% of ownership

Name of entity establishment interest interest  Principal activities
BEEE PR 3t B FrEfEks FeEtEks IEXEHK
Ak Aot
2022 2021
s T —F
CESIZ (Cambodia) Co., Ltd (“CESIZ") Cambodia 22% 22%  Property development
CESIZ (Cambodia) Co., Ltd ([CESIZ]) ~ 3Ri#ZE MEER
Lion Run Holdings Limited BVI 49% 49%  Licensing and
(“Lion Run") development of Ips
MEERER AT ([REER]) RBRUHE R0 B AN E
Triple Blessing International Limited BVI 49% 49%  Licensing and
(“Triple Blessing”) development of Ips
ZRERERAR ([=RER]) RBREXEHS AT I B B R R EE
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. REFE N R 2= (58)
Notes: (continued) MisE - (&)
(a) Associates material to the Group (continued) (a) HAEEMEBEAZHE AR (H)
(if) Financial information of CESIZ (ii) CESIZZ BAfE &
2022 2021
—E-= —T-—F
HK$'million HK$'million
EE-Y: 2 EE- Y-
At 31 March: R=A=+—H":
Non-current assets FRBAE 5,141 5,084
Current assets mEEE 1 -
Non-current liabilities ERBAE - -
Current liabilities mEEE (18) (10)
Net assets BEFAE 5,124 5,074
Group's % of ownership interest AEBEFMBEEEZE DL 22% 22%
Group's share of carrying amount of interests  AN& @ (hiEx 2 BREE 1,127 1,116
Year ended 31 March: R=RA=+—8:
Revenue A - _
Profit gl - -
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 mEs 50 B
Total comprehensive income gl Eatir:] 50 -
CESIZ is principally engaged in investment in urban complex CESZEZWEFHAMRARERBMNE
development project. Under the sub-decree 122/2019 (the & o IRIBCESIZA KRB F &K T CESIZHK
"Sub-decree”) on the establishment of CESIZ Special S ERR A —RES 122/2019 ([ Z 4%
Economic Zone granted by the Council of Ministers to 21)  BREEGHAECESIZERIFRE
CESIZ, the Council of Ministers approved CESIZ to establish NA R ETEA 17,252,519 F 75 K 487
a special economic zone (the “Special Economic Zone") with FE(&ERR]D (HE D - REZHX
a size of 17,252,519 square meters at Koh Kong Province, 2 CESIZBHAMBLCESR 2K
Cambodia (the “Project”). Under the Sub-Decree, CESIZ BREN > WHEEMBLET ERER
shall have the sole and exclusive right to develop the Special EEEE  TRREEBRRAR) - CESIZ
Economic Zone with all the necessary land use rights, NEREERTRMM -

including those for residential, industrial and commercial
development purpose. The principal assets of CESIZ is a
land for development.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. REFE N R 2= (58)
Notes (continued) MisE - (&)
(a) Associates material to the Group (continued) (a) HAEEMEBEAZHE AR (H)
(iii) Financial information of Lion Run (iii) B 2 B IS E R
2022 2021
—g=-= T —F
HK$'million HK$'million
EE-Y: 2 BEET
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Non-current assets SEMBEE 85/ 86
Current assets MEEE 50 11
Net assets BEFAE 85 97
Group's % of ownership interest AEBEMEREERADL 49% 49%
Group's share of carrying amount of interests  AN&EE D (hiEx 2 BRHEE 42 48
Year ended 31 March: R=ZA=+—8:
Revenue WA 40 11
Loss and total comprehensive loss EBEREEEBEERE (12) 42)
Lion Run holds rights in various IPs in PRC and has licensed MERERRPEBESEMBERE 2 E
the use of such IPs to an independent third party for 20 years o WERFAI—EBBLE=HEAZEM
starting from 1 January 2021. The first year licensing fee is BE#E BT —F- AR R0
approximately HK$45 million. Licensing fee in subsequent FoHFEHAABNRISESBT - HEF
years will be agreed in written form one month before the Bz B AFR—EARERLR
anniversary. #5E °
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19.

Notes (continued)
(a) Associates material to the Group (continued)

(iv) Financial information of Triple Blessing

REE RN R 2R (F)
B ()
@  HARETmEBEAZBEANE)

(v) ZREERZHBER

2022 2021
—E-= —E=—F
HK$'million HK$'million
BEERT BEAT
At 31 March: R=A=+—H:
Non-current assets FEmEBEE 33 101
Current assets RBEE 59 13
Net assets BEFE 92 114
Group's % of ownership interest AEBFMEEERA DL 49% 49%
Group's share of carrying amount of interests AN & [ D {525 7 BRE(E 45 56
Year ended 31 March: R=ZA=+—8:
Revenue WA 47 13
Loss and total comprehensive loss EEREHEEIEAE (22) (51)

Triple Blessing holds rights in various IPs in PRC and has
licensed the use of such IPs to an independent third party
for 20 years starting from 1 January 2021. The first year
licensing fee is approximately HK$52 million. Licensing fee
in subsequent years will be agreed in written form one
month before the anniversary.

(b) Associates not material to the Group
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of the

amounts of all individually immaterial associates that are accounted
for using the equity method.

“REERTEFE S RAMBER 2 E
Mo XWEFA-RBLE=TERZEMN
BER BT —F- AR R/HE2
FoHFHAABNRRABET - Hi2F
BRI BHREFR —EARERLR
W€ °

) HAREWMEUFEAZBEAT

TRIVRAEEEIEFTE BRI T ERREREA
fRZ B N BIEER -

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HKS$’million HK$'million
BEET BEET
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Carrying amounts of interests HEREE 6 6
Year ended 31 March: BE=ZHA=+—HLEE:
Profits and total comprehensive income A R 2 S 42 5

for the year
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20. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 20. A—EEEhECER
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F

HK$'million HK$'million
BE®ET BEET

Unlisted investments: ELEMHE -
Share of net assets DIEEEFE = 4
Notes: BeE -
(a) Joint venture not material to the Group (a) HARBEMSWIIEERZAEDRE
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of the TRIVRAEE (L FRE ER N EIREREAN
amounts of all individually immaterial joint ventures that are Rz aE ke -

accounted for using the equity method.

2022 2021
—E-F T —F
HK$'million HK$'million
EE-Y: 2 BEET
At 31 March: R=A=+—H
Carrying amounts of interests Rz iR (A = 4
Year ended 31 March: BE=A=+—-HLEE:
Profit i A 1 -
Other comprehensive income Hip 2wl - -
Total comprehensive income 2HEW AT 1
During the year ended 31 March 2022, a joint venture was disposed REZE-_T__F=A=+—BILLFE —[Ha&
at a consideration of HK$4 million. EREURBIABEBTHE -
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

21. ARV EFEEHSALFTAREMS
HWZEeTmMEE

2022 2021

—E=-= —T-—F

HKS$'million HK$'million

BEER BEET

Listed equity securities (note a) FRAES (M5 (a) 42 120

Notes:

(a)

In April 2020, the Group completed a share swap with Oshidori,
where the Company issued and allotted 625 million shares of the
Company in exchange for approximately 188 million shares in
Oshidori. According to the swap agreement, there is a lock-up
period of two years from the date of issue for not to sell, offer to
sell, transfer or dispose. The Group has irrevocably elected at initial
recognition to recognise the fair value of this equity instrument,
which is not held for trading but a strategic investment, through
other comprehensive income. In January 2021, in view of the strong
performance in the stock market reaching its 6 months high, both
the Group and Oshidori mutually agreed to release the aforesaid
lock-up restriction. No dividend income was received during the
year.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 110 million shares in
Oshidori was disposed at a consideration of HK$66 million.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held 54,570,000 shares of Aceso
Life Science Group Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Group, with fair value of HK$4 million.
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22. EWER

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEAT

Non-current
Secured fixed-rate loan receivables
Less: Allowance for expected

credit losses

FERE
B AR E E A R B E R 8 64
B BHMEEEIREE
2 Q)

6 63
Current Vi)

Secured fixed-rate loan receivables BERBEEFEEKER 5 33
Unsecured fixed-rate loan receivables 4 4 4 ) E ) R W B 3R 92 232

Less: Allowance for expected o TREEEEER G
credit losses (44) (50)
53 215
59 278
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22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

22. EWER(E)

Notes: BeE -

(a) As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of loan receivables of (a) RIBE-_—F=ZA=+—H EBREZZEAE
approximately HK$nil (2021: HK$54 million) was pledged to secure HARERBT(ZE-—F : 4FEBT) BEMRIA
borrowings. EEEE -

(b) Movement on the allowance for expected credit loss for loan (b) EWERBHEESEREZE
receivables:

HK$'million
BEET
As at 1 April 2020 RZZ-_ZTFMA—H 48
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss ~ RA4RA B &R NER 7
Amount written-off as uncollectible 8 45 AR A UK B ) RRIE @)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—F=A=+—80K
“T--#pmA—A 51
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 4R A B R AR 1
Amount written-off as uncollectible i iH R AW B B FRIE (©6)
As at 31 March 2022 W-ZZ-—F=A=+—H 46

For loan receivables that are not credit-impaired without significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition (“Stage 1”), ECLs is
measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECLs that
result from default events possible within the next 12 months. If a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified
("Stage 2") but not yet deemed to be credit impaired, ECL is
measured based on lifetime ECLs. In general, when loan
receivables or its related instalments are overdue by 30 days, there
are significant increase in credit risk. In general, loan receivables
are considered as default (“Stage 3") when they are overdue by
over 90 days.
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23. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 23. REHERWIKIE

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments
HEMAR HENRRE
2022 2021 2022 2021

g ~—E-—4F B ~—TET-—%F
HK$'million  HK$'million HK$'million  HK$'million
BERT BEAT BEBTT BEETT

Less than 1 year DR—F 4 4 4 4

Between 1 and 2 years —ZEMF 2 3 2 3

Between 2 and 3 years W= = F - 1 - -
6 8

Less: Unearned finance income  J& : A& BREREEE W A - m

Present value of lease payments A& (IR E 6 7 6 l

Less: Amount within 12 months 3 : 12{& A A& & 58

(shown under current assets) (BIRN R EE
IHET) (4) 4)

Amount receivable after 1218 A1z el £ 58
12 months 2 3
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23. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. MEHERWREGE)

Notes: BT

(@)  The Group leases out certain of its machineries under finance (a) AEEREMEMELHETHEW - IERED
leases. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no REFBRERE  WENRA SR EREET L EMA
arrangements have been entered into for variable lease payments. THE e AETHEMKR  AFAABREEBUZEE
At the end of each lease term, the lessees have the options to BB MR R -

purchase the plant and machinery at nominal prices.

(b) Disclosures of finance lease-related items: (b) REREREER 2K -
2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
HK$'million HK$'million
BHEER BEETT
Finance income on net investment in the leases MNHEEFIEE Z/E WA - 1
(c) Movement on the allowance for expected credit loss for finance (© MEEWREEREEBIERE Y #8)
receivables:
HK$'million
BEET
As at 1 April 2020 RZZ_ZTFMA—H 1
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss ~ R4R& B K NIER (1

As at 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 R-TBE-_—F=A=+—8 "

—E-_F=ZA=+—H -
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24. DEFERRED TAX 24, EEHIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and NTRASECHRZ TERERAAEBR
assets recognised by the Group. BE
Fair value
adjustments on
property,
plant and
equipment,
intangible
Accelerated assets and
tax investment
Tax losses  depreciation properties Total
nE - BE
BREER
RENRZ
REEE NEWERE  AVESEER Azt

HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEBT BEST BEET BEETL

As at 1 April 2020 R-Z-_ZFNA-H 16 (31) (1) (19
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss FRRBETEA/ (105)

for the year 5 3 1 )
Exchange alignment 3Tk _ _ B B

As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R=F=—F=A=F—H

—“T--¥MmA-A 11 (28) - (17)
Charge to profit or loss for the year ~ FRR BRIk ) - - B)
Exchange alignment [ 5 % - - - -
As at 31 March 2022 RZF--%-A=1-H 8 28) . 20)
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24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

(after offset) for consolidated statement of financial
position purposes:

24.

IEERIR (45)

R A M BIMR KM T - BN IAA S (K
HR) 2 M

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F

HK$'million  HK$'million
BHEAT BEBT

Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E 4 5
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIEEE (24) (22)
(20) (17)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$83 million (2021: HK$51 million) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams and these tax
losses have no expiry dates.
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25. CASH DEPOSITS 25. HEFXK
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—F
HKS$'million  HK$'million
BEBER BEET

Non-current FERE

Pledged deposits (note a) BEEFFER (T () - 5

Current RE

Trusted and segregated bank accounts {575 B RTTEEF (H5Eb)

(Note (b)) 96 16

Cash and cash equivalents B4 LIBESEEY 91 107

187 123

Total BEt 187 128

Notes: P -

(a) The Group's pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged (@) AREBEAT IR R EE RN EREE
to banks to secure borrowings as set out in note 33 to the ZIFR - AR A MR 33 -
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Trusted and segregated bank accounts represented clients’ (b) FRRBLRITEFDEGCEEAETE  F5K
accounts in the provision of asset management, securities £ -An BEREGESBRRBEXESBFOE
brokerage, commodities, futures and other financial service FRRF »
business segment.

(c) As at 31 March 2022, the bank and cash balances of the Group (© RZFZZF=A=+—8 AEENARE
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to HKS$nil (2021: TARBDS#EZROTRREHEHRATETL(Z
HK$2 million). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject TIF2ABEL) c ARWARRINGRE
to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations. SFAR BN B AR A ©
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26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 26. HtEWNKIE - RERFANSNKIE
PREPAYMENTS

2022 2021
—E--F —=E-—fF
Note HK$'million HK$'million

et BBART BEETT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Prepayment for acquisition of BEME  BWELERE
property, plant and equipment Z B IA 8 -
Other non-current assets Hi3ERBEE 2 2
10 2
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H th fE W3R8 6 3
Consideration receivables for HES/MEERKNKE
disposal of financial assets (@) 66 16
Deposits and prepayments Re RIENKIEA 5 4
Less: Allowance for expected B REMEEEIERE
credit loss (b) (3) ()
74 21
Total HEt 84 23
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26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PRE

Notes:

(a)

PAYMENTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed
financial assets at FVTOCI at a cash consideration of HK$66 million
which is guaranteed by an independent third party and secured by
equity interest over a private entity.

The Group had consideration receivables of HK$16 million secured
by convertible bonds (the “CB") with principal amount of HK$30
million. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the debtor of other
receivables defaulted and the Group seized the CB with principal
amount of HK$30 million accordingly. The CB was issued by Aceso
Life Science Group Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Group.

Movement on the allowance for expected credit loss for other
receivables

(%

BIRE -

(a)

26. EtEWRRE RERFENFRIE

REBEE-T-—F=ZA=+—HIFE K£R
UNESRESEEBTHEUAAFEFEAEE
L AEMEEREZEREE  ZHERER
BB HER WA RERAAEEE 2 REER
e

AEERARRRE16AEET - HUAKXSHEI0
BEBILZ ABBRES ([R]mERES]) (FERR -
RBEZTZ_F=RA=+—HILFE ' K
B HMBEFREBARAKECHIRERZ
ReI0BEBBIL L FTHRRES - LA RRES
HAREZZEBREREREFHREERRAT
AT -

Hib b sRREREBEREZE

HK$'million
BEET
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZFMNA—A 2
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss ~ fE4R A B2 R P HER 2
Amount written-off as uncollectible s RS AN Bl #Y R IE @)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—F=A=+—A8HK
—F-—FMA—H 2
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss L4748 5 5% R 1
As at 31 March 2022 RZZEZZF=A=+—H 3
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27.

28.

INVENTORIES 27. 78
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BE®ET BEET
Consumables and others SHAE R R EA - 2
Spare parts HRZEMN 5 2
Art works (note) i g (B 5E) = 84
5 88

Note: P& -

Art works with carrying value of HK$84 million were disposed at a
consideration of HK$84 million which was satisfied by cash and equity
interest over a listed entity.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

28.

REERMBEREL EMMAREEEETHE
FZREUNRS R T EEZBRIET -

BEPYR

2022 2021
—E-= —ET-—F
HK$'million HK$'million

BHE®BTT BEBTT

Land use rights 1 s AR

368 370

Note:

The properties under development were related to a residential and
commercial mixed property development project located at Port Dickson,
Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia comprising 267,500 square meters (or 2,879,343
square feet). The property is held from the government for a lease term of
99 years expiring on 8 February 2097 for residential and commercial
building uses.
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29. TRADE RECEIVABLES

29. B 5 RURIE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BE®ET BEBTT
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE

Rental income from construction REMWER 2B RA
machinery business 66 46
Provision of other financial services R EM S AR - 3
Securities brokerage BHLAL 82 78
148 127
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses i : TEEME BB 1B (22) (14)
126 113

Notes:

The Group allows an average credit period of 0-30 days to its trade
customers arising from construction machinery and sales of
construction materials business. The credit period provided to
customers can be longer based on a number of factors including
the customer's credit profile and relationship with the customers.
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.
The Group has a policy for allowance for expected credit losses
which is based on the evaluation of the collectability and aging
analysis of accounts on every individual trade debtor basis and on
the management’s judgement including creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each customer.

For those commodities, futures and securities trading clients, it
normally takes two to three days to settle after trade date of those
transactions. These outstanding unsettled trades due from clients
are reported as trade receivables from clients.

The margin clients of the commodities, futures and securities
brokerage business are required to pledge their investments to the
Group for credit facilities for commodities, futures and securities
trading. The settlement terms of trade receivables from clearing
houses are usually one to two days after the trade date.

GEE

REMEREEMEZENHIEEXBNESE
PERETFHOEHEMEES - AEFPREZE
BEHSgEEPHNERERARLAEFPNERES
FRERMER - AERZEEHEL A - AEEF
HEERFPEEERRREFAEEERE - &
FHREHGEHEN - FEBREAEBREEE
BREBEE  EDERNHS2BLESEBAR
B8R B R AR B S AT 1R 2 AT A - R E IR
BHE2EPNEEBEYGREHSEL ZH)
R VA

SR HEREFEEEPME - —KRR
ZERGZRHAPEME=ZANEE - ZFH
RENZRREFPESRITIRRETF 2B S
JFEWRIR ©

Ao BEREFELEBCRESTEPRAAAR
SEERREZREURGEEREFER B
ENEHEE  KREBBEMIEZREHIRZE
HHBREARHHBR—EMA -
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29. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 29. ESREWRIE(E)
Notes: (continued) MisE - (&)
(b)  The aging analysis by invoice date of trade receivables before (b) AT AIRESEEEERENESEUGIER
allowance for expected credit losses is as follows: BESABMENZRERDN
2022 2021
—EBZ=HF T —F
HK$'million HK$'million
BHEBT BEET
0-30 days 0-30H 27 91
31-60 days 31-60 H 22 13
61-90 days 61-90 H 16 3
91-180 days 91-180 H 19 7
181-365 days 181-365H 32 5
Over 365 days 838 365 B 32 8
148 127
(c) Movement on the allowance for expected credit loss for trade (© B RWEIE, BHEEEBRES
receivables:
HK$'million
BEET
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE=TFMNA—H 21
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss L4745 3% R Q)
Amount written-off as uncollectible HEH R E R B 6y IR (©6)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
14
Recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 4R & Em AT ER 9
Amount written-off as uncollectible WsH AN Bl HY IR (1
As at 31 March 2022 RZTB-ZZF=RA=+—AH 22

190 Annual Report G 2021/22



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® £ XFf iR E £ @ AR AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

29. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9
to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit

losses also incorporate forward looking information.

B ZEWEIE ()

AEBEERBBYBHREENFIORETH
% EREMEYERREIMEESE
WkIBFHRIEHEERE - RETERBAGEER
B B RUGRERBARGEERRE
BRBH AN - BHEERIRITAAR
AR -

Past due
Ik
1to 31to 91 to Over
Current 30 days 90 days 180 days 181 days Total
B 1£30H 31£90H 9121801 180 AL Fob
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE-Z5=F=+-H
Weighted average expected P ESERR
loss rate 53% 13.0% 17.5% 27.8% 40% 14.9%
Receivable amount (HKSmillion)  [EU &% (BE/ET) 57 23 40 18 10 148
Loss allowance (HK$million) FEAEEERT) 3 3 7 5 4 22
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE--%=F=+-H
Weighted average expected P ESERR
loss rate 3.3% 15.4% 25.0% 28.6% 50.0% 11.0%
Receivable amount (HKSmillion)  [EU &% (BE/ET) 91 13 4 7 12 127
Loss allowance (HK$million) FEAEEERT) 3 2 1 2 b 14
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30. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

30. ARV EFEEHBALFTAREZ
THEE

2022 2021
—E-— T
HK$'million HK$'million
BEAR BEETT
Listed equity securities FTRARE S 88 -
Unlisted fund investment (note a) FELFMELSKEE (fita) 103 293
Unlisted debt instruments FETEEIA 20 15
Convertible notes receivables (note b) FEU TR AR 4% (FsEb) 28 -
239 308
Notes: BitsE

(a)  Amount represented the investments in fund: (@) FASEENTIESNRE
2022 2021
B T —4F
HKS$'million HK$'million
BEER BEAT
HT Riverwood Multi-Growth Fund HT Riverwood Multi-Growth Fund 44 293
Kingdom Future Limited (“Kingdom Future”) HEARAR([HE]) 59 -
103 293

In April 2021, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement
with an independent third party to acquire 49% equity interests in
Kingdom Future with a consideration of approximately HK$321
million. Kingdom Future, through its interests in a segregated
portfolio of Tisé Opportunities SPC, acquired shares of New Gains
Group Limited, a subsidiary of China Evergrande Group, which
owns Fangchebao Group Co. Ltd.* (FEEE£ERHBBRAR]). The
consideration was settled by the allotment and issue of
approximately 867 million shares of the Company. The transaction
was completed in May 2021.

The Group had consideration receivables of HK$16 million secured
by convertible bonds (the “CB") with principal amount of HK$30
million. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the debtor of other
receivables defaulted and the Group seized the CB with principal
amount of HK$30 million accordingly. The CB was issued by Aceso
Life Science Group Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Group.
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31. CORPORATE NOTE RECEIVABLES 31. EWGXEERE

2022 2021
—E=-= —T—F
Note HK$'million  HK$'million
B 5T BEET BEAT

Nanshan Capital Holding Limited ~ Fg L& AR B R A A
(“Nanshan") ([mwl) (a) 360 -

Less: Allowance for expected B TEHEESERE
credit losses (2) -
358 -

Notes:

(a) On 25 June 2021, the Group executed an order with Shanghai
Commercial Bank Limited (“SCB") for the purchase of notes, with
principal amount of US$45,000,000 (the “Nanshan Notes"”) at a
consideration of US$45,337,500 (approximately HK$352 million).
The Nanshan Notes were offered by Nanshan Capital Holdings
Limited to SCB in a private placement. The Nanshan Notes is
interest bearing at 7% per annum, guaranteed by Nanshan Group
Co., Ltd and due on 28 June 2022.

(b) As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of corporate note
receivables of approximately HK$358 million was pledged to secure
borrowings.

fiax -

(a) M-Z-—FXA-+hHA AEEMELEHE
BITERAR ([ LEEmERTDRITIERUEE
A& % /45,000,000 T EE([FEILEE]) -
K18 545,337,500 7T (K352 B &8 L) « M 1L
ZEHEILERERARACRILARSERIRE
BETLEEERT - BLUERBIEFMNETI%T
B AEUEEARARMEER RZT=Z=F
NAZTN\HEE -

(b) RZTZZZF=A=+—0 BEREGEZEZE
EEHNAIBSEESIT  BEBUERES -
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32.

HESE

Lease payments

Present value of

lease payments

HEMARK HEARBRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
- —FE-—F B —ET-—%F
HK$'million  HK$'million HK$'million  HK$'million
BERT BEAT BEBTT BEET
Within one year —FR 13 12 12 1"
In the second to fifth years, MRE_ZFHF
inclusive (BHEEME) 18 18 17 17
31 30 29 28
Less: Future finance charges i : KK & & (2) (2 N/ATER N/ATER
Present value of HESFTRE
lease obligations 29 28 29 28
Less: Amount due for 1218 A NEIEREE
settlement within Z 538 (B
12 months (shown MEBEET)
under current liabilities) (12) (1
Amount due for settlement 1218 A& 2| HJE &
after 12 months ZRIA 17 17

At 31 March 2022, the average effective borrowing rate
was 1.4% to 4.34% (2021: 1.5% to 4.84%). Interest rates are
fixed at the contract dates and thus expose the Group to

fair value interest rate risk.
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33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 33. RITRHEMEE

2022 2021
—E-= —T—F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEBTT
Bank borrowings RITIEE 275 91
Loans from other financial institutions H b B A 2 B3R 8 48
Loan from a fellow subsidiary —FHIRRAMB AR ZERK 28 130
Loans from a director of subsidiaries WEBRE—REEZER 40 60
Loan from the Controlling Shareholder  #A% IR 2 B 90 -
441 329
Representing: Bl
Current mED 410 252
Non-current IETRH 31 77
441 329
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EEEEBERNOT :
On demand or within one year BRERFNFRN 410 252
Between 1 and 2 years 122 17 54
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 14 23
441 329
Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 A AR HEE 2 58
within 12 months PR REBEEET)
(shown under current liabilities) (410) (252)
Amount due for settlement 128 A& Z|EA(EE 2 B
after 12 months 31 77
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33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 33.

Notes:

(@)  The average interest rates at 31 March were as follows:

WMITRHAMMEE (B)
fiax -

(a) REZA=Z+—HZFHEMERMT :

2022 2021

—g=-= - —F

Bank borrowings RITIEE 3.16% 3.88%

Loans from other financial institutions H B i 2 B3 3.88% 4.41%

Loan from a fellow subsidiary —BRZAMBARZER 6.00% 6.00%

Loans from a director of subsidiaries WEAR—BEBZENK 3.00% 3.00%

Loan from the Controlling Shareholder R ZER - N/A 58 A

(b)  Borrowings arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group (b)  IRIEE I E IR A & B EER A T E R R E R

to fair value interest rate risk are as follows: ZIEBWT

2022 2021

—E-CfF —ET-—F

HK$'million HK$'million

BEERT BEAT

Bank borrowings RITEE 221 12

Loans from other financial institutions H B it 2 B3 8 45

Loan from a fellow subsidiary —BERZAEMB AR ZER 28 130

Loans from a director of subsidiaries WEAR—REEBZEXK 40 60

297 247

Other borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the

Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

(o) The directors estimate the fair value of the Group’s borrowings

approximate the carrying value of the borrowings.

(d) Bank and other borrowings of HK$265 million (2021: HK$139
million) are secured. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of

financial and non-financial assets pledged as security for certain

bank borrowings and loans from other financial institutions are as

follows:

iSRRI anE ANEAEEERESR
EREAR -

(0 EBFEHFAFEEEEZATEAFEZREER
=,

d) WIOKEMEE265BBET(ZT=Z—F 139
BEAT)AAER - R _TE-_—F=A=+—
B EAETHRTEEREM S EE 2 E5IK
HrzemiIemEEZREEBERNT :

2022 2021

—E-= T —F

HKS$'million HK$'million

HEET EE-Y-

Property, plant and equipment M - BB KREE 114 108
Loan receivables e E R - 54
Pledged bank deposits BHEAIRITER = 5
Corporate note receivables JEU > R IR 358 -
Total assets pledged as security EREBERZEEREEHRE 472 167
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34. CORPORATE NOTE PAYABLES 34. BRE¥ERE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$'million HK$'million
BE®ET BEET

Current portion (note a) mENEE D (Mizta) - 108
Notes: BiRE -
(a) The notes was unsecured, interest bearing at 9% per annum and (a) ZRABEER  RFEANERIBFTEARNR T
repayable on 8 February 2022. F_ANBEER-
35. TRADE PAYABLES 35. ESEMNRIE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of BIEWHE DAY S 3 EMNZRIBERRDIT
receipt of goods, is as follows: AR
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'million HK$ million
HE®BTT BEBT
Within 30 days 30HA 2 1
31 to 60 days 312 60H 2 2
61 to 180 days 61 HE=180H 2 1
6 4
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36. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED 36. HENTIE - W& REFTR
AND ACCRUALS |
2022 2021
g —FE - —F

HK$'million  HK$'million
BEBT BEAT

Margin deposits payable to clients arising EA B ~ 18 MBEFLLH
from commodities, futures and EREFRES (FiEa)
securities brokerage (note a) 108 19
Contract liabilities (note b) A8 E(HMsEb) 2
Accruals JEEtE A 6 4
Others Hib 17 6
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ANIEEY NI e 7 10
Amount due to a director JEft—RESRRIE 20 -
160 40
Notes: Bt EE -
(@)  Margin deposits received from clients for their trading of (@ HNEEERERPESHBEREPREFSRELRE
commodities and futures contracts were payable on demand. e
(b) (b)
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
2022 2021 2020
R-BZZF R-T——%F R-T_FF
=A=+—H =A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEER BEAT BEBT
Contract liabilities — advances sRHBEE—REP
received from customers IER 2 B3R 2 1 3
2022 2021
—EB-C-HF T —F
HK$'million HK$'million
BHEBT BEBT
Revenue recognised in the year that was included REHFT AB LB IEZ FERERIA
in contract liabilities at beginning of year 1 3
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36. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED 36. HiWENRIE  BWRERETR
AND ACCRUALS (continued) 5 (#8)
Note: (continued) MisE - (&)
(b) (continued) (b) (%)
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied RERDEERERBHORELAHNATEFE
at end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in: ERBRAZZZME
2022 2021
—E-C T —F
HKS$'million HK$'million
BHEET BEET
2022 —F-= = 1
2023 —T-=F 2 -
2 1
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: FRNANEBBEZERE
2022 2021
—ECF T —F
HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEET
Increase due to operations in the year R F A FE 75 A E 0 2 1
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue HEHNBEEREZRA 1 3

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
products to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

ENEBEREARBEFETNTPERER  MA
SECART P WRRE (LE B HIRE) -
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37. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL

37. URAFEFEBEHBALFTAREZ

THMEE

2022 2021
—E-= T
HK$'million HK$'million

BEET BEAT

Non-current FETRED

Corporate note payable (note a) R EZERE (M5Ta) 629 628
Notes: fsE -
(a) In January 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of Alcott (a) —E-—F— - NEEZHRUKEE Alcott & E1T

Global Limited and issued note with principal amount of HK$850
million as part of the consideration. The note has a maturity date of
3 years from the date of issue, subject to the extension at the
option by the Group. The note bears 5% interests per annum,
subject to the satisfaction of (i) having received audited financial
statement of CESIZ prepared under HKFRS; and (i) the return on
net assets of CESIZ, calculated by dividing net profit after tax over
net assets, for the previous financial year achieved 20% or more.
The corporate note is carried at fair value.
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38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. A
Number of
shares
KR EE
Note ('million) HK$'million
et (A&ER) BEETT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BAX0.01 BT EBER
Authorised: EE
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZ=ZZ=_ZFWMWA—AH -
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —ZF- *i— A=+—8"
T -FMA-BHRK
—E-—H#=A=+—H 20,000 200
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR :
As at 1 April 2020 R-ZZE_ZFFMA—H 4,428 44
Issue of subscription shares BITRERMD (@) 625 6
Issue of placement shares BT E R (b) 234 3
Issue of award shares BITREIRD () 1 -
Issue of consideration shares BITRERD (d) 500 5
Issue of shares upon conversions A A R R IR
of convertible note payables BT (e) 871 9
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 A —Z - —F=F=+—H
FZE=-—FMA—H 6,659 67
Issue of consideration shares ZBITRERD () 867 8
Issue of award shares BITREIRGD () 33
As at 31 March 2022 R-TE-_—_F=HA=+—H 7,559 76
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38. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Issue of subscription shares

In April 2020, the Company completed a share swap with Oshidori,
where the Company issued and allotted 625 million subscription
shares in exchange for approximately 188 million shares in
Oshidori.

Issue of placement shares

In September 2020, the Company issued and allotted
approximately 234 million new shares to independent third parties
at HK$0.285 per share. The net proceeds from the share placement
was approximately HK$67 million.

Issue of award shares

In September 2020, the Company issued approximately 775,000
award shares to its employees.

In May, July and October 2021, the Company issued approximately
33 million award shares to its employees.

Issue of consideration shares

In January 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Alcott
Global Limited and issued 500 million shares to the vendor.

Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible note payables

In February 2021, certain holders of the convertible note payables
in aggregate of principal amounts of HK$280 million exercised their
rights to early convert their convertible notes into an aggregate of
approximately 871 million ordinary shares of the Company.

Issue of consideration shares

In May 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Kingdom
Future and issued approximately 867 million shares.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders

through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 39. UM ZAFFIAE

B 42 = R

(a) Share award (a)

The Company's share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme") was adopted on 24 April 2020. The
purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (a) to
recognise the contributions by selected participants
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain
them; and (b) to attract the right talents for
promoting the future development and expansion of
the Group, with a view to achieving the objective of
increasing the value of the Group by motivating the
participants to strive for the continual operation and
future development and expansion of the Group and
aligning the interests of the participants and the
shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to the scheme rules, the Board may
determine other specific vesting criteria, conditions
and the time when the awards shall vest. The Award
Shares are vested in three equal tranches of which: (a)
1/3 of the Award Shares under the award shall be
vested in the first calendar year after the offer date
during a period of continuous service with the Group;
(b) 1/3 of the Award Shares under the award shall be
vested in the second calendar year of continuous
service with the Group after the offer date; (c) 1/3 of
the Award Shares under the award shall be vested in
the third calendar year of continuous service with the
Group after the offer date. During the year ended 31
March 2021, a total of 774,929 Award Shares granted
to one of the selected employees are unconditional
awards as his contract provided for such Award

Shares are in addition to his normal monthly salary.

AR E) 2 By B2 Ry At & ([ B 1D 22 Rh =t
FDER-_Z_TFWNA_+tHAE
R IR RBFTEIBE MR @B EE
E2EEFENZER T RAKRERM
REARERS  Rb)RIIBEZA
TN REAREARREREFETE
% EEEBRESEERSAEER
BREARAREREBTEBMS
NEBRAAEEEELBE  TE
S EEEARNR IR Z M8 o

RIFHERA EFQREETAMBE
ERBRE REREBDEERME -
RERNDD=HUERERE - HP ()
HRENA T 2 1/3 BB IR ) RN F5 A R AN
SERGHRERZOEBEEREAE
BB (b)ERE)RT Z1/3%E D
EEZHNAPRFELSAEERE Z
F_EABFHE  (EEETN21/3
RBBRNEEEHERERFERAE
BREzE-BRAEFREE NEZ=E
2 —F=HA=+—H ETHP
—HETEREE A 774,929 B ERBA D
TYEGITRRB - RADRZAKNRTE
H—f% A% LASNH 0 B B2 B A £)
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 39. ARG X ATRIE ()
(@) Share award (continued) (a) RPER(E)
Movement and details of the award shares (the ANEFZEBI D (TEEIIGD ) E8) &
“Award Shares”) during the year are as follows: BT

Number of award shares

RBROE
24 April 2020 29 June 2020 Total
it S 2 kS S5
MAZ+mMA RNAZT+AIAH st
million million million
A&k BER BER
Outstanding as at 1 April 2020 R -ZE-ZFMA—H
e AR H - - -
Granted during the year AEEHRL 197 65 262
Vested during the year AFEEHE ) - (1)
Lapsed/cancelled during the year N4 E LA,/ F Y (170) ©) (171)
Outstanding as at 31 March W-_E-—F=F=+—H
2021 and 1 April 2021 —ZT_-FWA—H
M AR 26 64 90
Vested during the year REETE ©) (21) (30)
Outstanding as at RZZE-_—F=A=+—H
31 March 2022 iH AR 17 43 60
Share price at date of grant (HK$) W& H BHIZE (BT) 0.246 0.148
Fair value at date of grant REEL Bz ATE
(HK$ million) (BEETL) 48 10
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEET
Share-based payment expenses VARG 15 R =2 6 8

204 Annual Report G 2021/22



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® £ XFf iR E £ @ AR AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ## 2= ==

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(a)

Share award (continued)

Details of the specific categories of award shares are

as follows:

Date of grant

Vesting period

39.

AR XA 5R3E (48)

(a) MRtZRE (&)

F=ZA=+—HLFE

BRIz BB M T

2022
—EC-CF
Numbers of
share awards

2021
—E-—4
Numbers of

share awards

FiH A 5B REROEE RERHEE

(million) (million)

(BEER) (B&KR)

24 April 2020 24 April 202024 April 2021 - 9
—EoTFMNA-+TIEA —EEFMA+TMAZE
T -FMA=+TEH

24 April 2020 24 April 2020-24 April 2022 9 9
—E-TFMNAZ+TEA —ETFMAZtTEARE
T FMAZ+EA

24 April 2020 24 April 2020-24 April 2023 9 9
—ETFMHA+TEA TETFNNAZFmAEE
—E--FMAZ-+IEA

29 June 2020 29 June 2020-29 June 2021 - 21
—EEFRNAZTNH —EZTFAZ+TNAZE
—E--FXAZTAIH

29 June 2020 29 June 2020-29 June 2022 21 21
—E-FFRAZTAHA —E-EFRAZTANARE
—EZFRAZTAH

29 June 2020 29 June 2020-29 June 2023 21 21
ZETFAAZT+NH —ETFRAZTARE
—E=FXAZTNH

60 90

Among the share awards granted during the year REE-_E-_—F=A=+—H" ' &

ended 31 March 2021, Fok Chi Tak, the executive

director of the Company, was awarded approximately

61 million shares.

Bz B EEE
EELEERD 6

BoARREBMITE
BE B
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 39. UM ZIRIE (&)
(b) Emolument shares (b) EAEM
Movement of the emolument shares granted by the FRNAEERE 2B RO ZB I
Group during the year are as follows: N
Emolument
Shares
< M 17
6 October
2020
—EIEF
+AKAH
million
BER
Outstanding as at 1 April 2020 R_Z_ZFMHA—HRARESH -
Granted during the year REFRE 9
Outstanding as at 31 March 2021 and RZEBE-—F=A=+—8K
1 April 2021 ZE—FMHA—HEKREL 9
Vested during the year REEHE 3)
Outstanding as at 31 March 2022 RZZE-_F=A=+—HrEAREH 6
Share price at date of grant (HK$) REH BB RE(ET) 0.395
Fair value at date of grant (HK$ million) RELHBHZ A TFE(EEST) 3
2022 2021
—EZfF —E-—F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEER A&8ETT
Share-based payment expenses ARE R 2SR 52 1 2
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Emolument shares (continued) (b)

Details of the specific categories of emolument

39. ARG XAREGE)

B B 47 (48)

BRERI 2RO FITMT

shares are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
Number of Number of

emolument

emolument

Date of grant Vesting period shares shares
REBH B HMeRBBE Mek(HEE
million million
BER BERK
6 October 2020 6 October 2020-6 October 2021 - 3
(note)
—ZETEFE+ARAE —ETFE+RAREE
—ZE-—F+ RARE (Fsh)
6 October 2020 6 October 2020-6 October 2022 3 3
(note)
—ZETF+AKRA —E-TFFTARAZE
—EZF+RARBE (FE)
6 October 2020 6 October 2020-6 October 2023 3 3
(note)
—ZT-TF+ARH i N S VAN S
—E-=F+ AXA (M)
6 9
Note: B3

These emolument shares were granted to Mr. Xu Lin and Mr. Wei

Bin, as part of their emolument as non-executive directors of the

Company. If Mr. Xu Lin and Mr. Wei Bin ceases to be a director of

the Company for any reason before any vesting date, Mr. Xu Lin

and Mr. Wei Bin shall be entitled to receive a pro rata portion of

the emolument shares calculated on the basis of the number of

days worked by Mr. Xu Lin and Mr. Wei Bin.

ZEMEBRHE T AR RENTEEFMELER

RWELE  ERREHE 8D

o fEFHRSE AR

B S A SRR B IR0 R (T IR  f A B R
EARRESE  AFMHEERIUREERERER
L BIRER BB D BN £ AR 1D - A EEERFTHEAE R
BBEEZ TIERE -
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40. RESERVE

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity of the

consolidated financial statements.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account of
the Company are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

the business.
Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees of
the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-
based payments in note 3 to the consolidated

financial statements.
Translation reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Company and certain
subsidiaries with functional currency other than HKD.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 3 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. RAREE
The Group did not have any significant contingent R-BE-_—FR T -_—F=F=+—H"
liabilities at 31 March 2022 and 2021. REBEN |BEMERNNARELE -

42. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 42. BAREE

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEAT

Contracted but provided for: EETH B
— Property, plant and equipment —WE - BERRE - 7
43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43 BHERS
Key management compensation FTEEBEABZHMH
2022 2021
—E=-= —E—F
Notes  HK$'million  HK$'million
k3 BEER A8AETT
Short-term employee benefits % HAE BT 6 5
Share-based payment VARR 15 32 A~ 5RIE 4
10 11
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MRERE M BRRAME D MREEI  BE
statements, the Group had no material transactions with “ECCERTEF--FZAZTAL#F
related parties during the year ended 31 March 2022 and B ARELREREB SRS -
2021.
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44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transaction

(i)

(ii)

The Group had consideration receivables of
HK$16 million secured by convertible bonds
(the “"CB") with principal amount of HK$30
million. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the debtor of other receivables defaulted and
the Group seized the CB accordingly. The CB
was issued by Aceso Life Science Group
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Group.

In April 2021, the Group entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent
third party to acquire 49% equity interests in
Kingdom Future with a consideration of
approximately HK$286 million. Kingdom Future,
through its interests in a segregated portfolio
of Tisé Opportunities SPC, acquired shares of
New Gains Group Limited, a subsidiary of China
Evergrande Group, which owns Fangchebao
Group Co. Ltd* (FE B & E k7 B R 2 7).
The consideration was settled by the allotment
and issue of approximately 867 million shares of
the Company which had fair value of
approximately HK$320 million. The transaction
was completed in May 2021. This investment
will be treated as a financial asset at FVTPL on
the consolidated statement of financial

position.

210 Annual Report G 2021/22

44, ZEBRE

(a)

MEBRME

TEFRERS

@)

(i)

rEEFBERIEREICEEE
T EUASEIEEBTZH
BmREH(ARRES ] EKR
e RBE-ZT-_-_F=H8
=t+—HIEFE REEEZH
b EWRIBEEARAEBEZ N
IR 2 TR ES - ARG
FHASEZIERRREHED
R SEEARAFET -

R-ZZ-—FWA  AEHEF
NEZFRIWIERE - WET
ME 5 49% It - REX R2867A
BB TEE B HE NTisé
Opportunities SPCHJ & 37 1% &
% 6 #E % Y8 New Gains Group
Limited (7 Bl 18 A 52 B H9 I B8
7)) B BZ 19 New Gains Group
Limited BEFEEEE RN E
R~ &l o X8 DA BE 35 30 3217 4Y
867 A BRARA M 2T (E
- ERAFEAN0EESTT
ZRHEERN_FE—FHARE
B o IR B AR S B ISR R
WRIEA AT EFT 2 AHEBLET A
BRcemEE -



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® £ XFIRZZIEE LB AR AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

44.

REREREBRME(E)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEITBHELEZEEEH
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in TRV AEEFAREZHEEZ
liabilities arising from financing activities during the BEE
year:
Amount due
toan
intermediate
holding
Amount  company and Bank and Total liabilities
due to fellow other ~ Convertible  Corporate Lease from financing
adirector  subsidiaries  borrowings note payable note payable liabilities activities
Eff-#
HEERAT
Ef-4 i GES #TR R Ef RERBEE
B2RE  BELORHE EtRE  THREE e £3-4 HERE  CBfEEE
HKSmilon ~ HK$milon  HKS'milon  HK§'milion ~ HKS'milion  HK§'milion ~ HKS'million
BEAT BEAT BERET BEAT BERT BEAT BEET
1 April 2020 “ECEEMA-A - 5 251 132 - 40 a2
Changes in cash flows BeREEy - 5 63 (78 (265 (13 (288)
Non-cash changes B2
— Transfer to interest payables —BAERHE - - - - - - -
— Finance costs —RERK - - 15 2 3 1 u
— Liability of new issue —HR18E - - - 89 - - 89
— Extinguishment loss on early principal ~ — R EEAE 7 EEFR
redemption - - - 13 - - 13
— Re-designation of fair value of —RAREEOAEMEFEE
repurchase consideration as a result BOREZATE
of early principal redemption - - - 6 - - b
— Reclassification of accrued interest —BREEMENFEL
from other payables EHFISERD R - - - 4 - - 4
— Early conversion —RERA - - - (191) - = (191
— Acquisition of properties under —hEERRE
development - - - - 370 - 370
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-E--£ZA=1+-Bk
“EC-FmA-A - 10 39 - 108 28 475
Changes in cash flows Renesy 12 ] 8 - (108) (14) 28
Non-cash changes FRLEY
— Finance costs —RERK - - 2 = = 1 29
— Bxchange difference —ERER - g " - 3 - (1)
— Additions of lease —REHE - - - - - 14 14
— Acquisition of property, plant and —WENE  BERRE
equipments 8 - - - - - 8
As at 31 March 2022 RZFZZ§=f=1-H 20 7 iy - - 9 497
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HBI-FE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  45. XA BB MR K KR HE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) AT T
Company
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'million  HK$'million
BHEAT BEBT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR ZIRE 88 88
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B BB A &) FRIE 795 764
883 852
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U I BB A B FR 1A 971 750
Financial assets at FVTPL WA EFFEBEHEEEETA
BasemERE 88 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReLRBREEEY 6 2
1,065 752
Total assets EEHE 1,948 1,604
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hi BN RIERETER 1 1
Amounts due to subsidiaries AL NGIE e 185 150
Loan from a fellow subsidiary REMNBARZER 118 130
Amount due to a director BN —REEFIE 11 11
315 292
Net current assets REBEEEE 750 460
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERTEBAERE 1,633 1,312
NET ASSETS EEZEE 1,633 1,312

212 Annual Report G 2021/22



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® £ XFf iR E £ @ AR AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 82 —F =R =+—HIFE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 45. XA GBI EMRR R R FE (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) AATHMBMRRE(E)
Company (continued)

2022 2021
—E--F —=E-—fF
HK$'million HK$'million

BHE®BTT BEBTT

Capital and reserves EXRf#E
Share capital % 7R 76 67
Reserves G 1,557 1,245
TOTAL EQUITY ERBEE 1,633 1,312
The statement of financial position of the Company RATHGIRNEZR B = —F A
was approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June “HhBEESedE YHIATE
2022 and was signed on its behalf: EREKE .
Fok Chi Tak Mak Yiu Tong
Director Director
EF EF
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45. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reserves of the Company

45. GERTRE

RMEE ()

(b) ARQTZf#HE

Share-based Convertible
Share Capital  payment FvTOCI note  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
NATEHE
BHEBEA
RGPS Ht2EHE TRREE
KORE  EARE  AREE 2 ZifE  BiEE @it
HkS'million ~ HKS'million ~ HKS'million ~ HKS'milion ~ HKS'millon ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million
BEST  BERT  BEAT  ABAT BEAT BEAL BERR
Asat 1 April 2020 RZZZZFNA-F 618 % - - 64 (48) 689
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRrEEELE - - - 1 - (07 (46)
Transaction with equity holder HEEREARD
Issue of subscription shares BIARRD 103 - - - - - 103
Issue of placement shares BORERD 64 - - - _ _ o
Issue of consideration shares BIRERN 168 - - - - - 168
Issue of convertible note payables upon WE-BNBLRRES
acquisition of a subsidiary ERTRREE - - - - 81 - 81
Issue of shares upon conversion of FARNTRREER
convertible note payables Bakh 30 - - - (120) - 182
Share-based payment expenses WD HER - - 10 - - - 10
Early principal redemption of convertible IR REBEEMT#
note payables kEELe
— re-designation of fair value of —EHREBORE
repurchase consideration JhTE - - - - (o) - )
— transfer to accumulated losses —E\ZHEE - - - - (19) 19 -
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 Apri 2021 R_E--F=F=1-H
“Z--EMA-H 1,25 % 10 il - 86) 1,245
Total comprehensive loss for the year EnrApELeE - - - (1 - 4 1]
Transaction with equity holder HERHEARS
Issue of consideration shares BIRERD 33 - - - _ _ 313
Issue of award shares HRERG b - 1] _ _ _ 1)
Share-based payment expenses R RES - - 7 - _ _ 7
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZE=f=1-A 1574 % 10 - - 82 1557
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46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 46. RHME AR ER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries FENMBARFE
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and RIEBE-—FER-_E-—F=A=+—HK
2021 are as follows: BARZFBWT
Issued and
Place of fully paid up
incorporation/  share capital/ Equity interest attributable
Name of the subsidiary establishment registered capital ownership interest Principal activity
EMRL BERTRAZRE
WEARER oA TfEX RERLFIARES TEER
2022 2021
ZEZCZE CZE--F
Alcott Global Limited (“Alcott") BVI US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
Alcott Global Limited ([Alcott])  HEBELHS 100ET RERK
Big Wish Developments Limited BV US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
("Big Wish")
Big Wish Developments Limited ~ REBEXZHEE  100%7L REHER
(TBig Wish])
Chim Kee Business Limited BVI US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
RBRAHE  100ET RERK
Chim Kee Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 99.9% 99.9% Construction machinery rental
and trading and sales of
construction materials business
G BRAR BE 1,000,000 7 RERBEERHEAR
RENMHHERH
Chim Kee Equipment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Construction machinery rental
business
AR EERAR BE 1B RERBEERH
Chim Kee Machinery Co., Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 99.9% 99.9% Construction machinery rental
and trading and sales of
construction materials business
G ERBRAR BE 187 RERMBERHENR

BEMMHE RS
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46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 46. RHB AR ER (48)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (continued) TEMBATFE(E)
Issued and
Place of fully paid up
incorporation/  share capital/ Equity interest attributable
Name of the subsidiary establishment  registered capital ownership interest Principal activity
L BRARMZRE/
WEARER B L4 B A& REEERAREE  TEXK
2022 2021
—E-C-F ZB--F
Chim Kee Transportation Hong Kong HK$1,200,000 99.9% 99.9% Provision of machinery
Company Limited transportation services
HLERBRAR BE 1,200,000 7T REEERRE
Dasar Prisma Sdn. Bhd. ("Dasar”) ~ Malaysia Malaysian Ringgit 2 100% 100% Property development
Dasar Prisma Sdn. Bhd. ([Dasar])  B52KF % 2ERAELLE MERR
Glory Century Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Investment holding and provision

of group management and

administration services

SABRAT] BE 100787 REZERARRHEEER
RATHUR

Hao Tian Asset Management LimitedHong Kong HK$5,000,000 100% 100% Provision of asset management
services

RREEEBRARAR BB 5,000,000 7T REEEEERE

Hao Tian Credit Company Limited  Hong Kong HK$200,000,000 100% 100% Money lending

EREEARAF Bk 200,000,0007% 7T HE

Hao Tian International Financial Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Holdings Limited
EXREReBERERAA BE 10,000,000 7 REER
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (continued)

Name of the subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and
fully paid up
share capital/

registered capital

46. RHB AR AR (B)

TENBLRFEGE)

Equity interest attributable
ownership interest

Principal activity

iy BRARMZRE/
WEAREE FR L 3 aftEA REEERAREE  TEXK
2022 2021
—E-C-F ZB--F
Hao Tian International Finance Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% 100% Money lending
Company Limited
FRERMBERAF BB 2,000,000/ 7T &
Hao Tian International Futures Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Futures brokerage business
Limited
SRERHERRAA Bk 10,000,000 7T MELLEH
Hao Tian International Securities ~ Hong Kong HK$180,000,000 100% 100% Securities brokerage business
Limited
EXERZEFERRA B 180,000,000/ 7T BHREFES
Hightion, Sociedade Unipessoal Macau MOP25,000 100% 100% Construction machinery rental
Limitada business
HA-ABRRA R BP9 25,0007 BEEREERH
KB Crane Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% Construction machinery trading
business
BLERBRAF BE 1,000 7T RERWHERT

Annual Report & 2021/22 217



Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited ® 2 KB ZEZIEEEE AR AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —Z——F=/A=+—HBI-FE

46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (continued)

Issued and

fully paid up
share capital/
registered capital

Place of
incorporation/

Name of the subsidiary establishment

46. RHB AR AR (B)

TENBLRFEE)

Equity interest attributable

ownership interest Principal activity

L ERTRBZRE/
WEARER B L3t B A& RERLGERERZ TEXH
2022 2021
—E-C-F ZB--F
K B Leasing Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Leasing
BUHHBEERAF B 10,000 7T Gizk+
K B Machinery Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Construction machinery rental
and trading and sales of
construction materials business
BLERAER N BE 187 RERBMEERHEAR
RENMHHER
Solution Pro Investments Limited BV US$100 100% 100% Investment holding
HERAME  100ET REER
EXR(RY)BREERERAF PRC RMB3,600,000 100% 100% Investment holding
h AR 3,600,0007T RERR
Notes: BsE
(1) The English names of certain subsidiaries represent the best effort M ARETHEBARETEREET  WZEM

by the Group’s management to translate their Chinese names, as
these subsidiaries do not have official English names.

2 All the above PRC-incorporated subsidiaries are limited liability
companies.

(3) The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(1) Partial disposal of equity interest of a
subsidiary

On 11 May 2022, Victory Bright Limited (the
“Vendor”) and Alcott Global Limited (the “Target
Company”), both are indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Glaring Sand
Holdings Limited (the “Purchaser”) entered into a
sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 15 issued shares
of the Target Company, representing 15% of the
entire issued share capital of the Target Company at
a consideration of US$20 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$157 million). The transaction was
completed on 16 May 2022.

(2) Purchase of bonds

On 22 June 2022, True Well Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, executed
an order with Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited for
a bond purchase at the consideration of
approximately US$45 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$355 million).

(3) Disposal of an associate

On 23 June 2022, Victor Ocean Developments
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, executed an agreement for the disposal
of 49% equity interest in Triple Blessing International
Limited, an associate of the Group, at a consideration
of HK$44 million.

48. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June
2022.

47. EHEEE

(1

(2)

(3)

HE—BEMEBAR 280 KRE

RZZEZ__FHAA+—H HHERAD
Al([&E A |) % Alcott Global Limited([ B
ZNF) (MEHAARATNEERE
Bt B 2 & ) B Glaring Sand Holdings
Limited([ B/ DRI BB ek - #Et
EHFBKRERELEISREZERRE
BTG - AEBRARZE B BITIRA
BEEI15% RER0BEXRT(HEE
REISTEEBT) - ZRHERZE
“ZFERATRBEREK

BEES

RZEZZFAZ+=H  ARQF
ZEEZEWNBARIFEREFRARM
LEEERITAERARNITETRIAE
BEEHF REANGLEEELEE
RHI3BEFEEETT) °

HE—EBEQT

RZEZZFNAZ+=H0 ' AR7A
2 B 2 & K 8 A 5Victor Ocean
Developments Limited %% 37 1 7% A 1
EREECBEANT=EEBEBRA
Al A9% HEm - ER44 BEATT °

48. #HtEHAREMBRER

REMBRENR_T__FA=+hBE
EEghETRETIE -
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Year ended 31 March #&2=A=+—RHIFE

RESULTS 4
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-N\F ZE-NF ZZTITHF —T-—F ZBIZHF
HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million HK$'million
BEET AEAETL E-v BEBT BEATT
Revenue WA 166 177 192 213 220
Profit/(loss) for the year THIALEEFER
attributable to: wH(E8) -
— owners of the — KREEEA
Company (12) (6) 72 100 (412)
— non-controlling — RS
interests - - - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year EREF(EE) (12) (6) 72 100 (412)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-N\FE ZT-hE T-TE —T-_—F ZBIZH
HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEET BEAT BEETT BHEBTT
Total assets BEME 634 1,080 1,497 2,894 2,931
Total liabilities BBz (287) (313) (509) (1,170) (1,298)
353 767 988 1,724 1,633
Equity attributable to RRAEE ARG
owners of the s
Company 353 767 988 1,724 1,633
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